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 Review of operations and activities  

Message from the Executive Chairman  
 
 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
 
For Redflow to succeed, our core battery product must demonstrate the long term reliability and 
consistent performance that we, and that our customers, require of it. 
 
The full outsourcing of our core battery product to Flex has now been completed successfully, 
despite the process taking somewhat longer than originally expected. That extended timeframe 
has been a direct consequence of a relentless focus, led by our CEO, on ensuring that the new 
Flex battery production processes consistently meet the quality and scalability benchmarks that 
we require. 
 
New batteries are now ‘on sea’ heading toward customers.  This new production embeds and 
addresses every technical lesson we have learned, from every battery ‘in the field’ that has ever 
suffered any sort of operational problem with a traceable relationship to a manufacturing or 
materials defect. This does not and cannot guarantee perfect batteries – but it means we have 
done everything reasonably possible toward that goal. 
 
We achieved a key milestone during August, with Flex now producing batteries for Redflow on a 
full ‘turnkey’ basis.  This step up in the relationship provides Redflow with stable supply of reliably 
constructed and pre-tested products at a predictable price point. 
 
We committed during this reporting period to develop a Battery Management System (BMS) to 
make our batteries easy and effective to use. We have achieved that goal, with our BMS already 
in successful operation across a variety of residential and commercial sites at this time. The BMS 
has proven to be capable of substantially reducing the technical and installation learning curve for 
integrators seeking to work with our unique battery – exactly as intended.    
 
This year, Redflow has undertaken a successful and oversubscribed capital raising. We thank our 
shareholder base sincerely for their strong support, and for their continued patience as we bring 
this unique product to market. 
 
Residential installations of our ZCell bundle are imminent, with ZCell production enclosures about 
to commence manufacture (in Australia), with the ZCell BMS ready, and with the first samples of 
our new battery production run being shipped to Australia at this time.  
 
The initial launch of the ZCell web site has already had over 38,000 unique visitors exploring our 
residential proposition. We have (to date) fielded direct expressions of interest in buying energy 
systems using our products from over 1,200 people around Australia. We have received enquiries 
from over 380 installers who are interested in creating solutions for customers based on the ZCell 
platform.  
 
Because this is a new technology to the residential market, we have been intentionally selective 
in terms of our initial installer engagement and training processes. Our aim is to ensure that initial 
deployments of ZCell solutions are delivered in a cooperative and successful manner. We intend 
announcing our initial ZCell installation company list on the zcell.com web site in mid September.  
 
We look forward to providing details at our AGM of real ZCell installations in the hands of real 
customers. Residential deployments of our flow battery technology is showing every sign of being 
the strong complement to our commercial and telco market segments that we had hoped it would 
be. 
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 Review of operations and activities  

 
 
 
Our first commercially sold LSB is installed and operating at Base64 in Adelaide. Flex are working 
with Redflow toward a scalable manufacturing approach for these large scale systems, and we 
retain our optimism for our capacity to succeed over time in the emerging grid-scale segment. We 
plan to promote and demonstrate LSB systems in new settings and locations in the coming year. 
 
We continued to make incremental commercial and telecommunications sector sales during the 
reporting period. We retain the view that our battery is a compelling and ideally suited proposition 
for the telecommunications sector and we continue to work hard toward further sales in this core 
market.  
 
This is pivotal time for Redflow. We need to carefully manage our production ramp-up and 
product delivery rates to be in reasonable balance with our sales ramp, across multiple market 
segments. For a company that is still relatively small this is an important balance to maintain, and 
we are alive to the need to do so. 
 

 
 
 
Simon Hackett 
 
Executive Chairman 
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Your Directors submit their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) 
consisting of Redflow Limited (the Company) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the 
year ended 30 June 2016. 
 
Directors 
The following persons were Directors of Redflow Limited during the whole of the financial year and 
up to the date of this report: 
 
Simon Hackett Chairman (executive) 
Howard Leigh Stack    Deputy Chairman (non-executive)  
Bruce Robert Brown   Director (non-executive)    
Richard James Aird  Director (non-executive) 
Patrick Tapper Director (non-executive) 
Stuart Smith  Managing Director, Company Secretary and Chief Executive officer 
 
Patrick Tapper was appointed as a Director on 24 March 2016. Simon Hackett became an Executive 
chairman on 21 October 2015, effective from 1 November 2015. 
 
Principal activities 
The principal activity of the Group consists of the development, manufacture and sale of its zinc-
bromine flowing electrolyte battery module (ZBM). 
 
A review of the operations of the Group for the financial year is included in the Chairman’s Report in 
the Annual Report. 
 
Dividends 
No dividend has been paid and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2015: 
$Nil). 
 
Issue of shares 
During the year, contributed equity increased by $12,660,695 (from $67,275,064 to $79,935,759). A 
total of 59,527,535 ordinary shares were issued during the year. Details of the changes in contributed 
equity are disclosed in note 20 of the financial statements. 
 
Review of operations 
The loss of the Group after income tax on a consolidated basis for the financial year ended 30 
June 2016 was $14,121,539 (2015: $12,309,426). The increase in the loss from 2015 to 2016 was 
mainly attributable to the following factors:- 

• The transition costs associated with the second phase of transferring production to Flextronics 
of $1.2million.   

• Increase in business development costs of $259,493 associated with increased sales and 
marketing activity.  

• Additional professional fees associated with the development of the ‘plug and play’ residential 
solution of $721,583 during the year.  
 

The Company completed two share placements of $5.8m and $1.5m during the year and a 1 for 15 
non-renounceable entitlement offer which raised an additional $5.6m. This has resulted in the 
Company having a cash balance of $12.3m at 30 June 2016 to enable it to execute its business plan. 
 
The Group’s independent auditor’s report for the year ended 30 June 2016 contains an emphasis of 
matter paragraph drawing members attention to the contents of Note 2(e) of the accompanying 
financial statements which deals with the Group’s going concern assumptions and the basis upon 
which those financial statements have been prepared. A copy of the independent review report is 
included with the accompanying financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016. 
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Material risks 
The Company, like all companies, faces risks inherent in its business and the stage of development of 
its core product. Other risks facing the company are: 

• ensuring that the non-binding forward order estimates our system integrator partners have 
provided, and others we see as prospective, are converted into firm customer orders sufficient 
to achieve positive cash flow; and 

• the successful and timely delivery of a product to customers when ordered; and 
• market entry costs not anticipated. 

 
Significant changes in the state of affairs 
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the year include:- 

• Mar/Apr 2016 - successfully completed a share placement and entitlement offer to raise an 
additional $12.2 million net of fees. 

• The transitioning of the second phase of manufacture to Flextronics with the transfer of 
electrode manufacture.   

• Announcement and development of a ‘plug and play’ residential energy storage solution with 
the launch of ZCell. 

 
Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
There were no events that occurred subsequent to 30 June 2016 that have significantly affected the 
Company’s operation, results or state of affairs or may do so in the future.  
 
Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Key developments under way include : 
• focus on continuous improvement in the manufacturability and energy throughput; 
• increasing and broadening the sales pipeline;  
• deployment of battery installations to the Australian retail market via trained Installers (under the 

ZCell brand) 
• work toward a scalable (likely outsourced) manufacturing approach for the Large Scale Battery 
• development and release of improved derivatives of the existing core battery product 
• continued development of the Battery Management System software platform. 
 
Redflow expects to receive a research and development tax cash credit towards the end of 2016. 
 
Environmental regulation 
At current levels of production, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to any significant 
environmental regulation in respect of operations or activities. As production volumes rise, 
environmental and Workplace Health & Safety regulations relating to chemical storage and handling 
may apply to the Company and its subsidiaries. 
 
Greenhouse gas and energy data reporting requirements 
The group is not subject to the reporting requirements of both the Energy Efficiency Opportunities Act 
2006 and the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007. 
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Information on directors and company secretary 
The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of 
this report are as follows. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 
 
 
Simon Hackett BAppMath, BCompSci., FACS, FAICD  Chairman, Executive Director 
Experience and Expertise 
Simon founded Internode in 1991 which became Australia’s largest privately owned broadband 
company. In December 2011 this was sold to ASX listed iiNet where he served on the board from 
August 2012 to November 2013. Simon was subsequently appointed as non-executive director on the 
board of NBNCo Limited where he served from November 2013 until April 2016. Simon has other 
investment and advisory roles in a number of internet/technology related organisations. Simon was 
appointed Executive chairman in October 2015. 
 
Other Current Directorships:- Base64 Pty Ltd 
 
Former Directorships  
(of listed entities) in the last three years:- iiNet Ltd 
 
Special Responsibilities:- Chairman of the Board  
 Member of the Audit Committee 
 
 
Howard Leigh Stack BA, LLB    Deputy Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director 
Experience and Expertise 
Howard Stack is an experienced Company Director with both listed and unlisted companies, including 
several as Chairman. These Directorships included companies with substantial international 
operations or whose strategies included penetration of world markets, including Bow Energy, Flight 
Centre, and Australian National Industries amongst others. He was a partner of the leading national 
law firm Allen, Allen & Hemsley until 2001. In the community, he has served as Chairman of the Board 
of Trustees for Brisbane Grammar School since 1991. 
 
Other Current Directorships:- Director of Magnetica Limited 
 
Former Directorships  
(of listed entities) in the last three years:- Bow Energy Limited 
 
Special Responsibilities:- Deputy Chairman of the Board 
 Member of the Audit Committee 
 
 
Stuart Smith BCom, Dip. Acc, CA  Managing Director, Company Secretary and CEO 
Experience and Expertise 
Stuart Smith joined Redflow on 6 November 2012. Stuart is a chartered accountant with over 20 years 
commercial experience in the UK, South Africa and Australia. He has previously held positions 
including CEO of Cellnet, and CFO of companies including AAPT Mobile (Cellular One) and Pacific 
Star, a joint venture between Telecom New Zealand and Bell Atlantic. His professional career included 
positions with Coopers and Lybrand (now PricewaterhouseCoopers) and Ernst and Young in London. 
 
Special Responsibilities:- Managing Director,  
  Chief Executive Officer, 
  Company Secretary  F
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Bruce Robert Brown BCom, AAUQ. Independent Non-Executive Director 
Experience and Expertise 
Bruce Brown has significant financial expertise, and experience in running a global business. Bruce 
was Chief Executive Officer of Campbell Brothers Limited (now ALS Limited ) until his retirement in 
2005, having held finance and senior management positions with that company since 1976. He was 
Chief Executive from 1990 until his retirement in 2005. He remained on the Board until retiring last 
year.  Bruce was a Director and for a time Chairman of Flight Centre Limited. Bruce holds a tertiary 
qualification in Commerce.  
 
Former Directorships Non-executive Director of 
(of listed entities) in the last three years:- Transpacific Industries 
 Group Limited  
 
Special Responsibilities:- Chairman of the Audit Committee.  
 
 
Richard James Aird                    Independent Non-Executive Director 
Experience and Expertise 
Richard is a commercial manager with current product development and technology 
commercialisation experience, and holds the position of CEO for medical equipment technology 
company, Magnetica Limited. Richard has developed Magnetica's hi-tech manufacturing operations, 
expanded technology development and systems integration capabilities along with commercial 
opportunities with global channel partner companies. Richard's former roles in Redflow (2008-2012) 
and prior positions in construction and agribusiness industries brings a wealth of practical business 
experience to Redflow.  Richard has first-hand knowledge of customer needs and requirements for 
grid-connected and off-grid electricity generating and storage systems in regional and remote areas. 
 
Other Current Directorships:- Director of Magnetica Limited 
 
Special Responsibilities:- Member of the Audit Committee.  
 
 
Patrick Tapper, FAICD              Independent Non-Executive Director 
Experience and Expertise 
Mr. Patrick Tapper, has over 25 years' experience in the telecommunications, technology, media, and 
entertainment industries most notably as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of national 
broadband company, Internode until its sale in 2012 to iiNet. He is a Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and has served as Governor of the American Chamber of Commerce 
(Amcham) in South Australia, and as Chairman at Executive Boards Australia. 
 
Patrick currently serves as a Non-Executive Director of Silver Chef Limited (ASX:SIV),  and is a Non-
Executive Director of Service to Youth Council Limited (SYC Ltd) where he serves as Chairman of its 
Digital Transformation Committee, and is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee. Patrick also 
serves as a Non-Executive Director of Acurus Pty Ltd, a leading Australian IT consulting and solutions 
provider based in Melbourne. He was appointed Non- Executive Director of Redflow Limited in March 
2016. 
 
Other Current Directorships:- Silver Chef Limited 
 SYC Ltd 
 Acurus Pty Ltd 
 
Special Responsibilities:- Member of the Audit Committee.  
  F
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Directors' interest in Shares and Options 
As at the date of this report, the interests (direct and/or beneficial) of the Directors in the shares and 
options of Redflow Limited were: 
 

 Number of 
ordinary shares 

Number of 
Options over 

Ordinary 
Shares 

   
Simon Walter Hackett 
Howard Leigh Stack 

51,645,545  
11,743,407  

 - 
-  

Bruce Robert Brown  2,891,568   -  
Richard James Aird  932,422   640,000  
Patrick Tapper  72,709  - 
Stuart Smith   83,334   2,750,000  
 
 
Meetings of Directors 
The numbers of meetings of the Group's Board of Directors and Audit Committee held during the 
year ended 30 June 2016, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were: 
 

 Audit 
committee 

Full meeting of Directors 

  A B 

Simon Walter Hackett 2 12 12 
Howard Leigh Stack 2 12 12 
Bruce Robert Brown 2 9 12 
Richard James Aird 2 10 12 
Patrick Tapper 0 2 3 
Stuart Smith 2 12 12 
 
A = Number of meetings attended 
B = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the year.  All Directors 
were eligible to attend all meetings held during their tenure. 
 
 
 
Shares Issued on the exercise of options 
There were no ordinary shares of Redflow Limited issued during the year ended 30 June 2016 on the 
exercise of options granted under the Redflow Limited Employee Option Plan. 
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Shares under option  
Unissued ordinary shares of Redflow Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows: 
 

Grant Date
First 

Exercise 
Date

Expiry date Exercise 
price

Balance at date 
of report

Vested and 
exercisable at 
date of report

Number Number
31/08/2010 31/08/2011 31/08/2016 $0.90 1,530,000               1,530,000               
31/08/2010 30/11/2011 31/08/2016 $0.90 310,000                  310,000                  
31/08/2010 1/01/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 280,000                  280,000                  
31/08/2010 29/02/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 310,000                  310,000                  
31/08/2010 31/05/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 160,000                  160,000                  
31/08/2010 31/08/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 160,000                  160,000                  
31/08/2010 1/01/2013 31/08/2016 $0.90 40,000                    40,000                    
27/06/2011 27/06/2012 27/06/2017 $1.45 120,000                  120,000                  
6/09/2011 1/07/2012 5/09/2017 $1.45 200,000                  200,000                  
6/09/2011 1/07/2013 5/09/2017 $1.85 200,000                  200,000                  

10/12/2014 31/12/2016 31/12/2018 $0.19 2,750,000               -                              
18/05/2015 30/06/2015 30/06/2018 $0.19 100,000                  -                              
18/05/2015 31/12/2015 31/12/2018 $0.19 250,000                  -                              
18/05/2015 30/06/2016 30/06/2019 $0.19 550,000                  -                              
18/05/2015 30/06/2016 30/06/2019 $0.19 200,000                  -                              
18/05/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2019 $0.19 300,000                  -                              
18/05/2015 30/06/2017 30/06/2020 $0.19 100,000                  -                              

7/07/2015 31/12/2015 31/12/2018 $0.28 250,000                  -                              

7/07/2015 30/06/2016 31/12/2018 $0.28 250,000                  -                              

7/07/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2018 $0.28 250,000                  -                              

7/07/2015 30/06/2017 31/12/2018 $0.28 500,000                  -                                                                                          

8,810,000               3,310,000               

 
Insurance of Officers 
During the financial year, Redflow Limited paid a premium of $36,994 (2015: $33,592) to insure the 
Directors and Secretaries of the Group. 
 
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings 
that may be bought against the officers in their capacity as officers in the Group, and any other 
payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This 
does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers 
or the improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for 
themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the Group. It  is not possible to apportion the 
premium between amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs and those relating to other 
liabilities. 
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Proceedings on behalf of the Group 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Group, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Group is a party, 
for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or part of those proceedings. 
 
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Group with leave of the Court 
under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Non-Audit Services 
The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit 
duties where the auditor's expertise and experience with the Group are important. 
 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non-
audit services provided during the year are set out below. 
 
The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors of the Company, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with 
the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The 
Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did 
not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the 
following reasons: 

•   all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not 
impact the impartiality or objectivity of the auditor. 

•   none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set 
out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

 
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for non-audit services provided by the 
auditor of the Group, its related practices and non-related audit firms: 
 

 
30 June 2016 30 June 2015 

Other services $ $ 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:   

 Tax compliance services - - 
R&D claim services 16,830 16,929 
Non-recurring consulting services 20,883 - 
R&D grant audit services - 19,561 

Total remuneration for non audit services 37,713 36,490 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations 
Act 2001 is set out on page 26. 
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Remuneration Report 
This remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2016 outlines the remuneration arrangements of 
the Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) and its 
regulations. This information has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Act. 
 
This remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for key management personnel 
("KMP") who are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, directly or indirectly, including 
any Director (whether Executive or otherwise) of the Parent Company, and includes the five 
Executives in the Parent and the Group receiving the highest remuneration. 
 
For the purposes of this Remuneration report, the term “Executive” includes the Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO), Executive Directors, Senior Executives, General Managers and Secretaries of the 
Parent and the Group and the term “Director” refers to Non- Executive Directors only. 
 
The remuneration report is presented under the following sections:  
(a) Directors and key management personnel disclosures 
(b) Remuneration at a glance 
(c) Use of remuneration consultants  
(d) Board oversight of remuneration 
(e) Non-Executive Director remuneration arrangements 
(f) Executive remuneration arrangements 
(g) Company performance and the link to remuneration 
(h) Executive contractual arrangements 
(i) Share-based compensation 
(j) Loan funded share plan 
(k) Equity instruments held by key management personnel 
 

(a) Directors and Key Management Personnel Disclosures 
Non-Executive and Executive Directors (see pages 7 to 8 for details about each Director) 
Simon Hackett Executive Director and Chairman 
Howard Leigh Stack Non-executive Director and Deputy Chairman 
Bruce Robert Brown Non-executive Director  
Richard James Aird Non-executive Director 
Patrick Tapper Non-executive Director 
Stuart Smith Managing Director, Company Secretary and Chief Executive Officer 
 
Key Management Personnel 
Dr Alexander Rudolf Winter   Chief Engineer 
Bruce Ebzery Business Development Manager 
Dr Michele Giulianini Chief Technology Officer 
 
There were no changes of the CEO or key management personnel after reporting date and the date 
the financial report was authorised for issue. 
 
(b) Remuneration at a glance 
Redflow Limited’s remuneration strategy is designed to attract, motivate and retain Employees, 
Executives and Directors by identifying and rewarding high performers and recognising the 
contribution of each employee to the continued growth and success of the Group. 
 
The Board has agreed that the best policy to ensure this result is to offer each Executive a fixed 
remuneration package complemented with a Share and Option incentive scheme. As the Company 
commences the transition to commercial manufacture and sales, other long and short term incentive 
schemes are being offered to Executives and other Employees including a bonus scheme and a 
performance based loan funded share scheme. 
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

(c) Use of remuneration consultants 
No Remuneration consultant has been appointed by the Remuneration Committee to review its 
existing polices. 
 
(d) Board oversight of remuneration 
Remuneration Committee 
All of the members of the Board (including both Executive and Non-Executive Directors) are members 
of the Remuneration committee. This is considered appropriate given the small Executive 
Management Team, and the stage of development of the Company. 
 
The remuneration policy has been developed to ensure that remuneration packages properly reflect 
each person's duties and responsibilities and that remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining 
and motivating people of the highest quality.  
  
(e) Non-executive remuneration arrangements 
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the year ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 is 
detailed in Table 1 of this Remuneration Report. 
 
The Group rewards each Non-Executive Director with a fixed remuneration package complemented 
with Redflow’s Share and Option Plan, the value of which is determined by the Remuneration 
Committee based on the remuneration policy noted above. In the 2016 financial year, remuneration of 
Non-Executive Directors is not dependent on sales performance or any other financial performance 
measures.  There are no long term incentive, short term incentive or bonus schemes in place. At the 
Annual General Meeting held on 30 November 2014, shareholders approved to pay directors’ fee in 
shares in lieu of cash for services provided to the company. 
 
(f) Executive remuneration arrangements 
The Group aims to reward Executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their 
position and responsibilities within the Group and aligned with market practice. As such, the Group 
rewards each Executive with a fixed remuneration package, the value of which is determined by the 
Remuneration Committee based on the remuneration policy noted above. In the 2016 financial year, 
remuneration of Executives included performance based remuneration incentive schemes consisting 
of a performance based bonus and a performance based loan funded share scheme. 
 
Structure 
In the 2016 financial year, the Executive remuneration framework consisted of the following 
components: 
 
(i)Fixed Remuneration 
This component has been negotiated by each Executive with the Board or Chief Executive Officer as 
appropriate, based on their experience and duties. The remuneration of Executives for the year ended 
30 June 2016 is disclosed in Table 1. 
(ii)Share options 
The Board may, at any time, make invitations to Eligible Persons (being Directors, Officers, Employees 
or Contractors of Redflow) to participate in the Redflow Share and Option Plan ('Plan') specifying the 
total number of shares or options being made available, or the manner for determining that number, 
the closing date for applications, in the case of options, the exercise period, exercise price and 
exercise conditions (if any). The share options awarded during the year are disclosed in section (i) of 
this report. 
(iii) Bonus scheme 
Certain executive are eligible to participate in a short term bonus incentive scheme to be agreed and 
reviewed annually in line with specific short term performance indicators.   
(iv) Loan funded share scheme 
Certain executive are eligible to participate in a long term share purchase incentive scheme as outlined 
in section (j) of this report. 
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Table 1 Details of Remuneration 

 
## % of remuneration that is performance based 

 
1.   These directors have elected not to receive these fees in cash and received approval for the issue of shares in lieu of this cash 
payment at the AGM held on November 2014. 
2.   Appointed 24 March 2016.  
3.   Received shares in lieu of cash for directors fees until November 1, 2015 when he was appointed Executive Chairman. 

Post 
employ- 

ment Long term

Share-
based 

Payment

30 June 2016
Salary & 

fees Bonus
Super-

annuation

Annual  and 
Long service 

leave 

Term-
ination

Shares and 
options Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ ##
Non-executive directors
How ard Leigh Stack 1 53,280        -              5,062         -                     -              -                 58,342      0%
Bruce Robert Brow n 1 53,280        -              5,062         -                     -              -                 58,342      0%
Patrick Tapper 2 14,754        -              1,402         -                     -              -                 16,156      
Richard James Aird 55,000        -              5,225         -                     -              -                 60,225      0%
Sub-total non-executive direct 176,314      -              16,751       -                     -              -                 193,065    

Executive directors
Simon Walter Hackett 3 84,427        -              8,020         -                     -              -                 92,447      0%
Stuart Smith 275,000      68,750    32,656       4,370             -              344,009     724,785    57%
Other key management personnel
Dr Alexander Rudolf Winter 255,000      36,000    27,645       2,509             -              257,100     578,254    51%
Bruce Ebzery 169,640      -              16,116       1,161             -              28,853       215,770    13%
Dr Michele Giulianini 170,000      25,000    18,525       1,832             -              119,085     334,442    43%

Sub-total executive KMP 954,067      129,750  102,962     9,872             -              749,047     1,945,698 
1,130,381   129,750  119,713     9,872             -              749,047     2,138,763 

Short-Term

Post 
employ- 

ment Long term

Share-
based 

Payment

Salary & 
fees Bonus

Super-
annuation

Annual  and 
Long service 

leave 

Term-
ination

Shares and 
options Total

30 June 2015 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ ##
Non-executive directors
How ard Leigh Stack 1 53,280        -              5,062         -                     -              -                 58,342       0%
Bruce Robert Brow n 1 53,280        -              5,062         -                     -              -                 58,342       0%
Simon Walter Hackett 1, 3 32,412        -              3,079         -                     -              -                 35,491       0%
Richard James Aird 55,000        -              5,225         -                     -              -                 60,225       0%
Sub-total non-executive directo 193,972      -              18,428       -                     -              -                 212,400     

Executive directors
Stuart Smith 250,000      175,000  40,375       905                -              207,210     673,490     57%
Other key management personnel
Dr Alexander Rudolf Winter 247,200      67,500    29,896       24,491           -              112,701     481,788     37%
Bruce Ebzery 164,532      -              15,631       4,153             -              28,774       213,090     14%
Dr Michele Giulianini 157,758      25,000    17,311       (1,843)            -              106,125     304,351     43%

Sub-total executive KMP 819,490      267,500  103,213     27,706           -              454,810     1,672,719  
1,013,462   267,500  121,641     27,706           -              454,810     1,885,119  

Short-Term

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

 
 

Redflow Limited   15 | P a g e  
 

 
Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

(g) Company performance and the link to Remuneration Policy 
Long term incentives provided to executives under the loan funded share plan include performance 
based measures such as the achievement of key performance indicators specific to the executives 
role. These align with the objectives, goals and strategy of the Company, and the role of the individual. 
Achievement of these key performance indicators is ultimately determined at the discretion of the 
board. 
 
(h) Executive contractual arrangements 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the executives are formalised in service 
agreements. The service agreements specify the components of remuneration, benefits and notice 
periods. Participation in short and long term incentive plans is subject to board discretion.  
 
Non-compete covenants and customary post-termination restraints apply to the Executive for up to 9 
months after termination if termination occurs due to a material change in circumstances. If their 
employment is terminated for any other reason, however, the non-compete restraints will not apply 
automatically, but the Company may elect to apply them for up to 9 months after termination by 
paying the Executive for the duration of the restraint, two thirds of the Executive base remuneration 
(including superannuation entitlements) at the time of termination. 
 
Other major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below.  
 
Table 2 Details of Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

Term
Start of 
contract

Basic salary 
including 

super- 
annuation

Termination 
benefit

Executive directors
Stuart Smith 2 years,     2 month notice 30/10/2015 $301,125 2 months

Other key management personnel 
Dr Alexander Rudolf Winter Indefinite, 3 months notice 1/11/2013 $279,225 Up to 9 months
Bruce Ebzery Indefinite, 1 month notice 12/07/2010 $185,756 1 month
Michele Giulianini Indefinite, 2 months notice 25/11/2013 $186,150 2 months
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
(i) Share based payments 
 
Table 3 Details Options awarded and/or vested during the year (consolidated) 
 

30 June 2016 Number %

Directors
Richard Aird 320,000    55,600     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 31/08/11 31/08/16 320,000    100%

80,000       14,300     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 30/11/11 31/08/16 80,000      100%
80,000       14,660     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 29/02/12 31/08/16 80,000      100%
80,000       15,040     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 31/05/12 31/08/16 80,000      100%
80,000       15,380     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 31/08/12 31/08/16 80,000      100%

640,000    

Stuart Smith 2,750,000 651,200   10/12/14 0.19      31/12/18 31/12/16 31/12/18 -                  0%
2,750,000 

Executives
Dr Alex Winter 320,000    55,600     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 31/08/11 31/08/16 320,000    100%

80,000       14,300     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 30/11/11 31/08/16 80,000      100%
80,000       14,660     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 29/02/12 31/08/16 80,000      100%
80,000       15,040     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 31/05/12 31/08/16 80,000      100%
80,000       15,380     31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 31/08/12 31/08/16 80,000      100%

100,000    15,260     18/05/15 0.19      30/06/18 30/06/15 30/06/18 -                  100%
250,000    40,063     18/05/15 0.19      31/12/18 31/12/15 31/12/18 -                  100%
550,000    91,807     18/05/15 0.19      30/06/19 30/06/16 30/06/19 -                  100%
200,000    33,384     18/05/15 0.19      30/06/19 30/06/16 30/06/19 -                  100%
300,000    51,894     18/05/15 0.19      31/12/19 31/12/06 31/12/19 -                  0%
100,000    17,838     18/05/15 0.19      30/06/20 30/06/17 30/06/20 -                  0%

2,140,000 

Bruce Ebzery 40,000       7,210       31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 01/01/12 31/08/16 40,000      100%
40,000       7,930       31/08/10 0.90      31/08/16 01/01/13 31/08/16 40,000      100%
80,000       

Total 5,610,000 1,360,000 

Vested at 30 June 
2016

Terms and conditions for each Grant

Options 
awarded 

Fair value 
of option 
at date of 
award ($)

Award 
date

Exercise 
price ($)

Expiry 
date

First 
exercise 

date

Last 
exercise 

date

 
Fair value of options included as a part of remuneration 
There were no options awarded as a part of remuneration of key management personnel during the 
year.  
 
For details on the valuation of the options, including models and assumptions used, please refer to 
Note 32. There were no alterations to the terms and conditions of options granted as remuneration 
since the grant date.  
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
(j) Loan funded share plan 
As part of its long-term incentives, Redflow Limited offers a loan funded share plan in order to: 

• Retain key Executives over the long term; 
• Provide an incentive and benefit to participants in the share plan to encourage dedicated 

and ongoing commitment to the Group; and 
• Better align the interest of the participants in the share plan with the interest of Shareholders 

and sharing in the long term growth of the Group. 
 
The share plan operates by way of Redflow Limited issuing shares to the Executive. Under the plan, 
ordinary shares are issued to participants with the purchase price lent to the employee under a limited 
recourse loan. The loan has a deemed interest rate equivalent to dividends paid and is provided for a 
maximum of three years. The terms of the plan are such that the participants receive an upfront 
entitlement to the shares which are subject to a holding lock until performance targets are met. There 
are thus no cash flow implications for the Company. 
 
The following table details shares that have been provided to Key Management Personnel through the 
loan funded share plan: 
 
Table 4 

Name Issue Date

Weighted 
Average 

Issue 
Price ($)

Total 
Loan ($)

Expiry 
Date

Alexander Winter 20/01/2014 $0.128 240,000 20/01/2017
Bruce Ebzery 20/01/2014 $0.128 96,000 20/01/2017
Michelle Giulianini 20/01/2014 $0.128 38,400 20/01/2017

12/08/2014 $0.190 285,000 12/08/2017
659,4004,425,000

300,000 $0.070
1,500,000 $0.143

750,000 $0.070

Number of 
Loan Funded 
Shares Issued

Weighted 
Average 

Fair Value 
($)

1,875,000 $0.070

 
The number of shares in the loan funded plan issued to key management personnel but unpaid at the 
end of the year was 4,425,000 (2015: 6,925,000). Repayments of $225,000 were received during the 
year. 
 
At the expiry date, the participant in the loan funded share plan may repay the loan to the Company.  
 
Alternatively, the holder may direct the Company to sell the shares on the market. The proceeds on 
sale will first be applied to the outstanding loan amount of those shares. Where there is a surplus left 
over after that sale, the surplus will be paid to the Executive. Where there is a shortfall the Company 
has no recourse to the Executive for the shortfall. 
 
The weighted average fair value of the shares has been calculated by using binominal option pricing 
methodology and accounted for as a share based payment in accordance with AASB2. For details on 
the valuation of the loan funded shares, including models and assumptions used, please refer to Note 
32. 
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Directors Report 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

(k) Equity held by key management personnel 
Shares held by key management personnel are outlined in the table below.  
 
Options and loan funded shares held are outlined in Table 3 and Table 4 above. 
 
Table 5 

30 June 2016
Balance at 

start of year

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation
Other changes 
during the year

Balance at 
end of year

Ordinary shares Number Number Number Number

Non-executive directors
Howard Leigh Stack 11,073,689   185,486            484,232              11,743,407    
Bruce Brown 2,573,629     141,353            176,586              2,891,568      
Richard James Aird 874,145        -                        58,277                932,422         
Patrick Tapper * 65,000          -                        7,709                  72,709           
Executive directors
Simon Walter Hackett 45,032,248   88,297              6,525,000           51,645,545    
Stuart Smith -                    2,500,000          (2,416,666) 83,334           
Other key management personnel
Dr Alexander Rudolf Winter 8,235,379     -                        (2,404,416)          5,830,963      
Bruce Ebzery -                    -                        -                          -                    
Dr Michele Giulianini 20,000          -                        -                          20,000           
Total 67,874,090   2,915,136         2,430,722           73,219,948     

* Patrick Tapper appointed as director on 24 March 2016 
 
(l) Other transactions with key management personnel 
A director, Mr Simon Hackett, is a beneficiary of the Hackett Family Trust and director of Base64 Pty 
Ltd. Redflow Limited delivered on a contract with the Hackett Family Trust during the year for the sale 
of a large scale battery. Base64 Pty Ltd was contracted to develop the BMS and ZCell enclosure for 
the launch of the ZCell residential offer. The charges under this contract include substantial pass-
through costs for enclosure engineering design and analysis services from subcontractors, costs to 
construct a battery inverter integration, testing and training lab in Adelaide, and prototype enclosure 
tooling and manufacturing expenses. During the year an employee of Base 64 was seconded to 
Redflow as Global Sales Manager. All of these contracts were delivered under normal terms and 
conditions. 
 
The aggregate amounts of each of the above types of other transactions with key management 
personnel of Redflow Ltd are set out below. 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Sales income received by the Company 655,000 18,340
Professional Fees paid by the Company 788,490 -
Payroll expenses paid by the Company 248,062 -
Customer deposit - 360,250  
 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors. 

 
---------------------------------------------- 
Simon Hackett 
Executive Chairman
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 Corporate Governance Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
The Board of Directors of Redflow Limited is responsible for establishing the corporate governance 
framework of the Group  having  regard  to  the  ASX  Corporate Governance Council (CGC) published 
guidelines as well as its corporate governance principles and recommendations.  The Board guides and 
monitors the business and affairs of Redflow Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are 
elected and to whom they are accountable. 
 
The table below summarises the Company's compliance with the CGC's recommendations: 
 

Recommendation 
Comply 
Yes/No Reference 

Principle 1 — Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight 

  

1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved to 
the Board and those delegated to Senior Executives and 
disclose those functions. 

Yes Page 27 

1.2 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating 
the performance of Senior Executives. 

Yes Page 28 

1.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in 
the guide to reporting on Principle 1. 

Yes Page 27 

Principle 2 — Structure the Board to add value   

2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent 
Directors. 

Yes Page 27 

2.2 The Chair should be an independent Director. No Page 27 

2.3 The roles of Chair and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
should not be exercised by the same individual. 

Yes Page 27 

2.4 The Board should establish a nomination committee No The full Board will carry out the 
nomination function, will ensure 
that the performance of the Board 
is reviewed annually and that 
appropriate steps are taken for 
selection and appointment of 
appropriate candidates to the 
Board. The Board is comprised of 
two independent Directors and 
one non-independent Director. 
Given the size, scale and nature of 
the Company's business, the 
Board does not consider the non- 
compliance with the Principles to 
be materially detrimental to the 
Company. 

2.5 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating 
the performance of the Board, its Committees and 
individual Directors. 

Yes Copies are available from the 
registered office of the Company 

2.6 Companies should provide the information indicated in 
the guide to reporting on Principle 2. 

Yes The Corporate Governance 
Charter, Code of Conduct and 
policies are available from the 
registered office of the Company. 
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 Corporate Governance Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Recommendation 
Comply 
Yes/No Reference 

Principle 3 — Promote ethical and responsible decision-
making 
3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose 
the code or a summary of the code as to: 
► The practices necessary to maintain confidence in the 
company's integrity 
► The practices necessary to take into account their legal 
obligations and the reasonable expectations of their 
stakeholders 
► The responsibility and accountability of individuals for 
reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices 

Yes Page 27 

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning trading in 
company securities by Directors, Senior Executives and 
Employees, and disclose the policy or a summary of that policy. 

Yes Page 29 

3.3 Companies should disclose in each annual report the 
measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the 
Board in accordance with the diversity policy and progress 
towards achieving them. 

 
Yes 

Page 30 

3.4 Companies should disclose in each annual report the 
proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, 
women in senior executive positions and women on the Board 

Yes Page 30 

3.5 Companies should provide the information indicated in the 
guide to reporting on Principle 3. 

Yes Page 27-30 

Principle 4 — Safeguard integrity in financial reporting   
4.1 The Board should establish an Audit Committee. Yes Page 27 
4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it: 
► Consists only of Non-Executive Directors 
► Consists of a majority of independent Directors 
► Is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the 
Board of Directors 
► Has at least three members 

No Page 27  
Given the size, scale and nature 
of the Company’s business, the 
Board believes the current Audit 
Committee is of sufficient size, 
independence and technical 
expertise to discharge its 
mandate effectively. 

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter. Yes Page 27 
4.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on 
Principle 4. 

Yes Copies are available from the 
registered office of the Company. 

Principle 5 — Make timely and balanced disclosure   
5.1 Companies should establish written policies designed to
ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and to ensure accountability at a Senior Executive 
level for that compliance and disclose those policies or a 
summary of those policies 

Yes Page 30 

5.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the 
guide to reporting on Principle 5. 

Yes Page 30 

Principle 6 — Respect the rights of shareholders   
6.1 Companies should design a communications policy for 
promoting effective communication with shareholders and 
encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose 
their policy or a summary of that policy. 

Yes Page 29 
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 Corporate Governance Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Recommendation 
Comply 
Yes/No Reference 

6.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the 
guide to reporting on Principle 6. 

Yes The Board Charter is available from 
the registered office of the 
Company. 

Principle 7 — Recognise and manage risk   
7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and 
management of material business risks and disclose a 
summary of those policies 

Yes Given the current size and 
operations of the Company the 
Board considers it in the 
shareholders interest for the Board 
as a whole to oversee and manage 
material business risks. Formal risk 
management policies formulated by 
the Board from time to time are 
available from the registered office 
of the Company. 

7.2 The Board should require management to design and 
implement the risk management and internal control system to 
manage the company's material business risks and report to it 
on whether those risks are being managed effectively. The 
Board should disclose that management has reported to it as 
to the effectiveness of the company's management of its 
material business risks. 

Yes The Board requires the Chief 
Executive Officer to design an 
approach to managing material 
business risks and its day to day 
implementation. 
The Company’s approach to risk 
management, and the 
effectiveness of its implementation, 
is reviewed  at least annually by the 
Board, and the Company’s Risk 
Register is included in monthly 
Board Papers. 

7.3 The Board should disclose whether it has received 
assurance from the Chief Executive Officer (CEO)  and the 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) that the declaration provided in 
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is 
founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 
control and that the system is operating effectively in all 
material  respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

Yes Refer to the Directors' Declaration 
attached to the Annual Report. The 
Board has received assurance from 
the CEO that the declaration under 
s295A is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and 
internal control. 

7.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the 
guide to reporting on Principle 7. 

Yes Contained in Annual Report 

Principle 8 — Remunerate fairly and responsibly   
8.1 The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee. No The full Board will carry out the 

remuneration function. The Board 
has adopted a Board Performance 
Evaluation Policy and CEO 
Performance Evaluation Policy. 
Whilst the ASX Principles suggest 
a remuneration committee be 
established comprising at least 
three Directors, a majority of whom 
are independent, with an 
independent chair, they recognise 
that for smaller boards the same 
efficiencies may not be obtained 
through establishing a separate 
committee. 
Given the size, scale and nature of 
the Company's business, the Board 
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 Corporate Governance Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Recommendation 
Comply 
Yes/No Reference 

does not consider the non- 
compliance with the ASX Principles 
to be materially detrimental to the 
Company. 

8.2 The remuneration committee should be structured so that 
it: 
► Consists of a majority of independent directors. 
► Is chaired by an independent chair 
► Has.at least three members 

Yes Refer to Remuneration Report 
(Page 12-18) 

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of Non-
Executive Directors' remuneration from that of Executive 
Directors and Senior Executives. 

Yes Refer to Remuneration Report 
(Page 12-18) 
 

8.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the 
guide to reporting on Principle 8. 

Yes Refer to Remuneration Report 
(Page 12-18) 

 
The Board has adopted a Corporate Governance Charter, Code of Conduct and a comprehensive set of 
Board policies regarding Independence and Conflicts of Interest, Risk Management, Board Performance 
Evaluation, Chief Executive Officer Performance Evaluation, Continuous Disclosure, Securities Trading and 
an Audit Committee Charter to assist it to discharge its corporate governance responsibilities. Copies are 
available from the Company’s registered office. 
 
Board Role and Composition 
The Board of the Company is responsible for ensuring the existence of an effective corporate governance 
environment to safeguard the interests of the Company, its shareholders, and other stakeholders. The 
Board will meet regularly and will be responsible for providing strategic direction, identifying significant 
business risks, approving major investment proposals and acquisitions, establishing goals and monitoring 
the achievement of these goals. 
 
The full Board is responsible for establishing criteria for Board membership, reviewing Board membership 
and nominating Directors for appointment to the Board.  Candidates initially appointed by the Board must 
stand for election at the next general meeting of shareholders. 
 
The Board considers that the following Non-Executive Directors are independent in terms of ASX’s 
Corporate Governance Guidelines: 
►  Howard Leigh Stack (Deputy Chairman);  
►  Bruce Brown 
►  Richard James Aird; and 
►  Patrick Tapper. 
 
The Company also has a Code of Conduct for Directors and Officers that sets out standards to which each 
Director and officer will adhere whilst conducting his/ her duties. The Code requires a Director, amongst 
other things, to: 
►  act with the utmost integrity and objectivity, striving at all  times to enhance the reputation and 
performance of the Company and, where possible, to act in accordance with the interests of shareholders, 
staff, clients and all other stakeholders in the Company; 
►  perform the functions of office and exercise the powers attached to that office with a degree of care and 
diligence that a reasonable person would exercise if he or she were a Director in the same circumstances; 
and 
►  not give preference to personal interests or to the interests of any associate or other person, where to do 
so would be in conflict with the interests of the Company.  
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 Corporate Governance Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Audit Committee 
The Board has established a separate Audit Committee that operates under its own Audit Committee 
Charter. The Committee comprises Simon Hackett, Howard Stack, Richard James Aird, Patrick Tapper and 
Bruce Brown until their resignation. Thereafter the entire board resolved to perform this role. Bruce Brown 
accepted the role of Chairman. 
 
Simon Hackett, Howard Stack, Patrick Tapper and Richard James Aird are all financially literate (i.e. able to 
read and understand financial statements) and have an understanding of the industry in which the Company 
operates. However, they are not qualified accountants or finance professionals. Bruce Brown is a qualified 
accountant. 
 
The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in discharging its obligations with respect to ensuring 
the correctness and reliability of financial information prepared for use by the Board and the integrity of the 
Company’s internal controls affecting the preparation and provision of that financial information in 
determining policies or for inclusion in the financial report. 
 
The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include: 
 
►  Monitoring and making recommendations to the Board on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
and external audit function; 
►  Making recommendations to the Board regarding: 
► the scope of internal and external audit, and the development of audit plans; 
► the process for putting the external audit function out to tender at least once in every three years; 
► the appointment of the external auditors; and 
► any exceptions or qualifications reported, or recommendations made, by the external auditor in the 
auditor’s opinion and management letter; 
►  Directly overseeing the external audit tender process, and including at least two of the members of the 
Audit Committee on the interview panel for the tender; 
►  Reviewing the form  and content of  representation letter/s provided by the external auditors and 
management representation letters provided by management to the external auditors; 
►  Monitoring implementation of any actions required by the Board to be taken by management to address 
any exceptions or qualifications reported, or recommendations made, by the external auditor; 
►  Liaising with the external auditors,  including at  least two meetings each year with the auditors, 
including a portion of the meeting in absence of all management, in relation to the preparation of the audited 
accounts of the Company; 
►  Reviewing and making recommendations to the Board in relation to accounting policies, or changes, or 
required changes, to the major accounting policies of the Company, and monitoring compliance by 
management with all approved accounting policies; 
►  Evaluating the adequacy  and effectiveness of  internal  financial  and other  controls used  by the 
Company. 
 
So far as possible the Audit Committee is to comprise of at least three Non-Executive Directors. At present 
the Company has four Non-Executive Directors and accordingly, the composition of the Audit Committee 
does satisfy the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations. 
 
The Board believes that the current Audit Committee is of a sufficient size, independence, and technical 
expertise to discharge its mandate effectively. 
 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
The full Board will carry out the nomination and remuneration function and is responsible for determining the 
appropriate remuneration of Directors. The Board remuneration policy has been developed to ensure that 
remuneration packages properly reflect each person’s duties and responsibilities and that remuneration is 
competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people of the highest quality. 
 
The Board will undertake an annual review of its performance. When a Board vacancy occurs or where it is 
considered that the Board would benefit from the services of a new Director with particular skills, the Board 
will identify and select suitable candidates. The Board reviews potential candidates, with advice from 
external consultants if necessary, and then appoints the most suitable candidate. 
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The Company’s remuneration policy will link the nature and amount of Executive Directors’ and Officers’ 
emoluments to the Company’s financial and operational performance. 
 
Shareholder Communication 
The Board of Directors aims to ensure that the shareholders, on behalf of whom they act, are informed of 
information necessary to assess the performance of the Directors. Information on major developments 
affecting the Company is communicated to the shareholders through the annual and half yearly reports, 
general meetings and notices of the general meetings, and by general correspondence from the Board. 
 
Shareholders will be encouraged to participate in the annual general meeting and other general meetings to 
ensure a high level of accountability and identification with the Company’s strategies and goals. Important 
issues are presented to shareholders as single resolutions. 
 
Securities Trading Policy 
Directors and other shareholders are encouraged to be long term holders of the Company’s shares. 
 
The Company has adopted a policy that imposes certain restrictions on Directors and Employees trading in 
the securities of the Company. The restrictions have been imposed to prevent inadvertent contraventions of 
the insider trading provisions of the Corporations Act. 
 
The key aspects of the policy are: 
►  trading whilst in the possession of material price sensitive information is prohibited; 
►  trading is permitted without approval in the 6 week period after the release to the ASX of the half- yearly 
and annual results, the end of the AGM or at any time the Company has a prospectus open, but only if they 
have no inside information and the trading is not for short term or speculative gain; and 
►  trading in other circumstances is only permitted if the person is personally satisfied that they are not in 
possession of inside information and they have obtained approval. Permission will be given for such trading 
only if the approving person is satisfied that the transaction would not be contrary to law, for speculative 
gain, to take advantage of inside information or seen by the public, press, other shareholders or ASX as 
unfair. 
 
Continuous Disclosure 
The Company has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy so as to comply with its continuous disclosure 
obligations once listed on ASX. The aims of this policy are to: 
►  assess new information and co-ordinate any disclosure or releases to the ASX, or any advice required in 
relation to that information, in a timely manner; 
►  provide an audit trail of the decisions regarding disclosure to substantiate compliance with the 
Company’s continuous disclosure obligations; 
►  report to the Board on continuous disclosure matters; and 
►  ensure that employees, consultants, associated entities and advisers of the Company understand the 
obligations to bring material information to the attention of the Company secretary. 
 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for communications with the ASX including responsibility for 
ensuring compliance with the Continuous Disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing 
information going to the ASX, shareholders and other interested parties. All such communication is 
circulated to Board Members for approval. 
 
Diversity at Redflow 
The Company recognises the value contributed to the organisation by employing people with varying skills, 
cultural backgrounds, ethnicity and experience. Redflow believes its diverse workforce is the key to its 
continued growth, improved productivity and performance. 
 
We actively value and embrace the diversity of our employees and are committed to creating an inclusive 
workplace where everyone is treated equally and fairly, and where discrimination, harassment and inequity 
are not tolerated. While Redflow is committed to fostering diversity at all levels, gender diversity has been 
and continues to be a priority for the Group. 
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 Corporate Governance Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
To this end, the Company supports and complies with the recommendations contained in the ASX 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. The Group has established a diversity policy 
outlined the Board’s measurable objectives for achieving diversity. This is assessed annually to measure 
the progress towards achieving those objectives. The diversity policy is available in the corporate 
governance section on the Company’s website. 
 
The table below outlines the diversity objectives established by the Board on 22 August 2014. The company 
will report against these objectives in future years. 
 
The Company has adopted the following to assist with improving gender diversity: 
►  Building and maintaining a safe work environment by taking action against inappropriate workplace and 
business behaviour (including discrimination, harassment, bullying, victimisation and vilification). 
►  Developing flexible work practices to meet the differing needs of our employees at different stages of 
their life cycle in the context of business requirements. 
►  Mentoring programs and professional development programs targeted at female employees to prepare 
them for management positions. Women employees access informal mentoring resources (for instance 
one-on-one mentoring sessions with Senior Executive Staff) and Redflow’s professional development 
programs. In 2015/16 Redflow will develop more targeted and formal mentoring and professional 
development programs targeted at female employees. 
►  Ensuring equal employment opportunity where equal treatment is given to employment, training, 
promotion and compensation, regardless of gender. 
 
Measurable Objectives 
Subject to the overriding objective that all appointments be made on the basis of merit, the Company 
believes that setting measurable targets and reporting on progress are critical success factors to achieving 
the Company's diversity objectives, particularly in respect of improving the proportion of women employed 
by the Company.  

 Objective Target Date 
1 Aim to have 25% of the Non-Executive board positions filled by women June 2017 
2 Maintain 20% of Senior Management roles filled by women. ongoing 
3 Maintain 15% of roles across the entire organisation filled by women.  ongoing 
4 Maintain 15% of the total remuneration of the Company paid to women. ongoing 
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 Auditor’s independence declaration 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 
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 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2016

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
.

Note 30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Sale of goods 6 1,102,371      130,170         
Other revenue from ordinary activities 6 98,969           135,266         

1,201,340      265,436         

Other Income 7 2,007,046      2,042,765      

Expenses
Raw materials and consumables used (4,602,438)     (3,460,374)     
Other expenses from ordinary activities

Administrative expenses (547,949)        (475,201)        
Depreciation and amortisation 8 (610,689)        (528,135)        
R&D expenses (48,723)          (206,210)        
Other expenses (594,594)        (1,066,288)     
Manufacturing transition costs (1,194,726)     -                    
Interest and finance expense 8 (35,086)          (21,807)          
Business development (616,377)        (356,884)        
Travel and accommodation (336,697)        (390,175)        
Professional fees (1,458,000)     (736,417)        
Payroll expenses 8 (7,278,942)     (7,367,267)     

Loss before income tax (14,115,835)    (12,300,557)    

Income tax expense 9 (5,704)            (8,869)            
Loss for the year (14,121,539)    (12,309,426)    

Other comprehensive income for the year 3,249             -                    

Total comprehensive loss for the year (14,118,290)    (12,309,426)    

Earnings per share for loss from continuing 
operations attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Group: Cents Cents
Basic loss per share 31 (0.04)             (0.05)             
Diluted loss per share 31 (0.04)             (0.05)             
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 Consolidated balance sheet 
As at 30 June 2016

 
 
 
 

 
 
The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
 

Note 30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10 12,355,167       13,059,451       
Trade and other receivables 11 114,314           129,101           
Inventories 12 2,364,109        3,348,615        
Other current assets 13 168,268           340,178           
Total current assets 15,001,858       16,877,345       

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,509,226        1,224,528        
Intangible assets 15 471,691           379,381           
Total non-current assets 1,980,917        1,603,909        
TOTAL ASSETS 16,982,775       18,481,254       

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 1,332,488        2,313,546        
Borrowings 17 5,645               15,796             
Other current liabilities 18 616,033           639,387           
Provisions 19 444,604           188,098           
Total current liabilities 2,398,770        3,156,827        

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 19 317,369           854,657           
Total non-current liabilities 317,369           854,657           
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,716,139        4,011,484        

NET ASSETS 14,266,636       14,469,770       

EQUITY
Contributed equity 20 79,935,759       67,275,064       
Reserves 21 3,248,986        1,993,164        
Accumulated losses 21 (68,918,109)      (54,798,458)      
TOTAL EQUITY 14,266,636       14,469,770       
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 Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
 

 
 
 
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 

Note
Contributed 

equity Reserves 
Accumulated 

losses Total
$ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2014 51,671,007   1,193,596    (42,489,032)  10,375,571   

Loss for the year -                  -                  (12,309,426)  (12,309,426)  
Other comprehensive income -                  -                  -                  -                  

-                  -                  (12,309,426)  (12,309,426)  

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:
Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 20 15,604,057   -                  -                  15,604,057   
Employee share options - value of 
employee services 21 -                  799,568       -                  799,568       

15,604,057   799,568       -                  16,403,625   

Balance at 30 June 2015 67,275,064   1,993,164    (54,798,458)  14,469,770   

Balance at 1 July 2015 67,275,064   1,993,164    (54,798,458)  14,469,770   

Loss for the year -                  -                  (14,121,539)  (14,121,539)  
Other comprehensive income -                  1,361           1,888           3,249           

-                  1,361           (14,119,651)  (14,118,290)  

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:
Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 20 12,660,695   -                  -                  12,660,695   
Employee share options - value of 
employee services 21 -                  1,254,461    -                  1,254,461    

12,660,695   1,254,461    -                  13,915,156   

Balance at 30 June 2016 79,935,759   3,248,986    (68,918,109)  14,266,636   

Attributable to owners of Redflow Limited

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
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 Consolidated statement of cashflows 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 

Note 30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 908,646           103,990          
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of 
goods and services tax) (15,393,052)      (13,825,804)    

1,980,939        2,040,571       
Interest received 98,969             135,266          
Interest & bank charges paid (35,086)            (21,835)          
Income tax paid (5,704)              (8,869)            
Net cash (outflow) from operating activities 30 (12,445,288)      (11,576,681)    

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for property, plant and equipment 14 (769,399)          (773,414)         
Purchase of intangible assets 15 (182,620)          (208,399)         
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 26,107             2,194             
Purchase of short term-deposits 13 -                      -                    
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (925,912)          (979,619)         

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from capital raising 20 13,147,871       16,158,507     
Cost of capital raising 20 (720,618)          (801,450)         
Repayment of borrowings (10,151)            -                    
Proceeds from borrowings – other -                      8,621             
Net cash inflow from financing activities 12,417,102       15,365,678     

Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents (954,098)          2,809,378       
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13,059,451       10,250,073     
Effects of Exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents 249,814           
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 10 12,355,167       13,059,451     

Grants/R&D Tax Incentive received (excluding goods and 
services tax)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

1   CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
The financial report of Redflow Limited (the "Company") and its controlled entities (the "Group") for 
the year ended 30 June 2016 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors on August 26, 2016. The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial 
statements. 
 
Redflow Limited (the “Parent”) is a company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. Redflow Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing financial statements. 
 
The registered office of the Company is 1/27 Counihan Road, Seventeen Mile Rocks, Brisbane, 
QLD 4073. 
 
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ report 
on page 5 which is not a part of this financial report.  
 
2   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the consolidated entity 
consisting of Redflow Limited and its subsidiaries. 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Compliance with IFRS 
The consolidated financial statements of Redflow Limited also comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
Historical cost convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
 
New and amended accounting standards adopted by the Group 
The group has applied the following standards and amendments for first time for their annual 
reporting period commencing 1 July 2015: 
• AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of 

AASB1031 Materiality. Completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. 
 

The adoption of these standards did not have any impact on the current period or any prior period and 
is not likely to affect future periods. There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that 
are expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on 
foreseeable future transactions. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. The area involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 4. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Going concern status 
The Group incurred an operating loss after income tax of $14,121,539 (2015: $12,309,426) and an 
operating cash outflow of $12,445,288, (2015: $11,576,681) for the year ended 30 June 2016. Cash 
held at bank as at 30 June 2016 was $12,355,167 (2015: $13,059,451). 
 
Since the commencement of operations in 2005, the Group has been undertaking research and 
development activities and has recently commenced commercialising its technology. Nevertheless, 
the ability to fund development, production and marketing of the Group’s products is dependent upon 
its ability to transition to a positive cash flow from operations and/or raise funding from the existing 
and new investors as well as other government incentive and grant programs where available and 
applicable. 
 
The directors have initiated the following strategies to secure the Groups going concern status during 
2016 and for at least the twelve months after the Directors Declaration: 
 
1. The Group completed a successful share placement of $5.8m to institutional and sophisticated 

investors. A further 1 for 15 non-renounceable entitlement offer raised an additional $5.6m and a 
share placement to Simon Hackett of $1.5m has resulted in the company having a cash balance of 
over $12.3m at 30 June 2016 to enable it to execute its business plan and commercialise the 
product. 

2. The Company has recently completed the transition of electrode manufacture to Flextronics in 
conjunction with the introduction of an improved electrode which has significantly improved 
performance and cost characteristics. 

3. Consistent with a Research and Development Tax refund of $2.0 m received in January 2016, the 
Group is in the process of preparing its claim for development expenditure incurred during the year 
ended 30 June 2016.  

4. Generating future sales to create a positive cashflow by: 
- Strengthening the sales and technical support teams in the Asia Pacific, Europe and South 
Africa. 
- Development of a new ‘plug and play’ product, ZCell, initially targeted at the residential Australia 
market.  

5. The Group continues to focus on cost reductions and achieving efficiencies 
 
Due to uncertainty over the timing of sales, there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt over whether the Group can continue as a going concern and therefore, it may be unable to 
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business at the amounts stated in 
the financial report.  
 
However, the directors believe that the Group will be successful in the above matters. In addition, the 
directors believe they will be able to raise additional equity or debt finance should the need arise. 
Accordingly this financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
At this time, the Directors are of the opinion that no asset is likely to be realised for an amount less 
than the amount at which it is recorded in the financial report as at 30 June 2016. 
 
Accordingly, no adjustments have been made to the financial report relating to the recoverability and 
classification of the asset carrying amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might 
be necessary should the Company and its controlled entities not continue as a going concern. 
 
(b) Principles of consolidation 
Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of 
Redflow Limited (formerly RedFlow Technologies Pty Ltd) (''the Company'' or ''Parent entity'') as at 30 
June 2016 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Redflow Limited and its 
subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group 
controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the 
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. 
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the 
Group. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the 
impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where  
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
(c) Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the board of 
Directors. 
 
(d) Foreign currency translation 
 (i) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Group operates (‘the functional currency'). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company's functional and presentation 
currency. 
 
(ii) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except when 
they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or 
are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in  a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets 
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, 
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and 
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as available for sale 
financial assets are included in the fair value reserve in equity. 
 
(e) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
 
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the 
Group's activities as described below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into 
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. 
 
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 
(i) Sale of goods 
A sale is recorded when goods have been delivered to the customer, the customer has accepted the 
goods and collectability of the related receivables is probable.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(ii) Interest income 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 
 
(iii) Government grants 
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Group has complied with all attached conditions. Government 
grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary to 
match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. Government grants relating to the 
purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in noncurrent liabilities as deferred income 
and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets. 
 
(iv) Deferred Revenue 
Revenue is deferred when goods are invoiced under contractual arrangements but where the risks and 
rewards of ownership remain with the company. 
 
(f) Income tax 
The income tax expense or revenue for the year is the tax payable on the current year's taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company's subsidiaries and 
associates operate and generate taxable income.   Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be 
paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements.  However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time 
of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of 
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised 
or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only 
if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences 
and losses. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to 
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 
 
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
2.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Redflow Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation. As a consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
(g) Leases 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the 
lease's inception at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other 
short term and long term payables. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
cost. The finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The 
property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset's useful 
life or over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty 
that the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the 
Group as lessee are classified as operating leases (note 26). Payments made under operating leases 
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the profit or loss on a straight line basis 
over the period of the lease. 
 
(h) Cash and cash equivalent 
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated 
balance sheet. 
 
(i) Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for 
impairment. They are presented as current unless collection is not expected for more than 12 
months after the reporting date. 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Individual debts that are known to 
be uncollectible are written off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the receivable. Financial difficulties of 
the debtor, default payments or debts more than 60 days overdue are considered objective evidence 
of impairment. The amount of the impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount compared to the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 
The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss within other expenses. When a trade 
receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a  
subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss. 
 
(j) Inventories 
Raw materials and Consumables  
Raw materials and consumables are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs 
are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of 
purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
2.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Consumables are 
held for use in the development of prototypes and are expensed to the Profit and Loss as prototypes are 
manufactured. 
 
(k) Property, plant and equipment 
All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers 
from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of 
property, plant and equipment. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 
 
Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and buildings are recognised, net of 
tax, in other comprehensive income and accumulated in reserves in equity. To the extent that the 
increase reverses a decrease previously recognised in profit or loss, the increase is first recognised in 
profit or loss. Decreases that reverse previous increases of the same asset are first recognised in 
other comprehensive income to the extent of the remaining surplus attributable to the asset; all other 
decreases are charged to profit or loss. Each year, the difference between depreciation based on the 
revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to profit or loss and depreciation based on the asset's 
original cost, net of tax, is reclassified from the property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus to 
retained earnings. 
 
Depreciation on assets is calculated using the diminishing value method to allocate their cost or 
revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 
 
Plant and equipment - 2 to 10 years 
Leasehold improvements - 3 to 10 years 
 
The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period.  
 
An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 2(v)). 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These 
are included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, it is group policy to transfer any amounts 
included in other reserves in respect of those assets to retained earnings. 
 
(l) Intangible assets 
(i) Trademarks, licences and registered designs 
Trademarks, licences and registered designs have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight line 
method to allocate the cost of trademarks, licences and registered designs over their estimated useful 
lives, which vary from 4 to 20 years. 
 
(ii) Software 
Costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to future period financial benefits 
through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software and amortised using the 
diminishing values method over their estimated useful life which varies from 1 to 4 years.   
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

2.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(iii) Research and development 
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development 
projects (relating to the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible 
assets when it is probable that the project will, after considering its commercial and technical 
feasibility, be completed and generate future economic benefits and its costs can be measured 
reliably. The expenditure capitalised comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of 
materials, services, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development 
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development 
costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. 
Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised on a straight line 
basis from when the asset is ready for use, to the end of its useful life which is from 3 to 10 years. 
 

(iv) Lease surrender costs 
Lease surrender costs include cash and shares issued as consideration to a third party for the early 
surrender of a lease. The costs have been recognised as an intangible asset and amortised over the 
term of the lease. 
 
(m) Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end of 
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due 
within 12 months from the reporting date. They are recognised initially at their fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
(n) Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as 
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down.  In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs.  To the extent there is no 
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as 
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 
 
Borrowings are removed from the consolidated balance sheet when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.  The difference between the carrying amount of a 
financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as 
other income or finance costs. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
 
(o) Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period 
of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other 
borrowing costs are expensed. 
 
(p) Employee benefits  
(i) Short term obligations 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service 
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. All short-term employee 
benefit obligations are presented as payables.    
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2.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations 
The liabilities for long service leave and annual leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. They are 
therefore recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of 
the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the end of the reporting period of government bonds with terms and currencies 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period, regardless 
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 
 
(iii) Termination Benefits 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, 
or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group 
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the 
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal 
or to providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to 
present value. 
 
(iv) Share-based payments 
The fair value of options granted is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options 
granted, which includes any market performance conditions but excludes the impact of any service 
and non-market performance vesting conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions. 
 
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over 
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.  At the end of each period, the entity 
revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market 
vesting conditions.  It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or 
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 
 
The fair value of shares issued under the loan funded share plan are recognised as an expense in the 
same manner as if they were issued as an option with a corresponding increase in equity. The total 
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the share granted, which 
includes any market performance conditions but excludes the impact of any service and non-market 
performance conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions 
are included in assumptions about the number of shares that are expected to vest.  
 
The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the 
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.  At the end of each period, the entity revises its 
estimates of the number of shares that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting 
conditions.  It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity. 
 
(q) Warranty provisions  
Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the 
group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably 
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.  
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2.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of 
obligations may be small.  
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to 
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as interest expense. 
 
(r) Contributed equity  
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 
(s) Goods and Service Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other 
receivables or payables in the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST  components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are 
presented as operating cash flows. 
 
(t) Earnings per share  
Basic earnings per share  
This is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of 
servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
This is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for: 
• Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends. 
• The after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares 

that have been recognised as expenses. 
• Other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result 

from the dilution of potential ordinary shares, divided by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 

(u) Parent entity financial information  
The financial information for the parent entity, Redflow Limited (formerly RedFlow Technologies Ltd), 
disclosed in note 33   has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, 
except as set out below. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of the parent, 
Redflow Limited. 
 
Tax consolidation legislation  
Redflow Limited and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
The head entity, Redflow Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for 
their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the 
tax consolidated group continues to be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Redflow Limited also recognises the current 
tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group. 
 
The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly owned entities 
fully compensate Redflow Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by 
Redflow Limited for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses 
or unused tax credits that are transferred to Redflow Limited under the tax consolidation legislation. 
The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly owned 
entities' financial statements. 
 
The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the 
funding advice from the head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each 
financial year. The head entity may also require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with 
its obligations to pay tax instalments. 
 
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are 
recognised as current amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the group. 
 
Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax 
funding agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly owned tax 
consolidated entities. 
 
(v) Impairment of assets 
Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash 
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
 
(w) Dividends 
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no 
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at 
the end of the reporting period. 
 
(x) New accounting standards and interpretations 
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 
30 June 2016 reporting periods. The Group's assessment of the impact of these new standards and 
interpretations is set out below. 
 
(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 , AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010), AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures and 
AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2017) 
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2.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2017 but is 
available for early adoption. 
 
There will be no impact on the group's accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only 
affect the accounting for financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss and the 
group does not have any such liabilities. The derecognition rules have been transferred from AASB 
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and have not changed. The group has not 
yet decided when to adopt AASB 9.  
 
The new hedging rules align hedge accounting more closely with the entity's risk management. As a 
general rule, it will be easier to apply hedge accounting going forward. The new standard also 
introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in presentation. The group has not yet 
assessed how its own hedging arrangements would be affected by the new rules and it has not 
decided whether to adopt the new rules early.  In order to apply the new hedging accounting 
guidance, the group would have to adopt AASB 9 and the amendments to AASB 9, AASB 7 and 
AASB 139 in their entirety.  
 
(ii) AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to 
Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle. 
Amends a number of pronouncements as a result of the IASB’s 2012-2014 annual improvements 
cycle. Key amendments include:  
· AASB 5 – Change in methods of disposal; 
· AASB 7 – Servicing contracts and applicability of the amendments to AASB 7 to condensed interim 
financial statements; 
· AASB 119 – Discount rate: regional market issue; and 
· AASB 134 – Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial report’. 
The amendment applies to reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2016. The group 
does not expect that any adjustments will be necessary as the result of applying the revised rules. 
 
(iii)AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15, AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15, AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Clarification of AASB 15 
AASB 15 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising 
from contracts with customers; and replaces AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue, 
Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, and Interpretation 15 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate, Interpretation 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers, and Interpretation 
131 Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The core principle is that an entity 
recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services. The standard is not 
applicable until 1 January 2018 but is available for early adoption. The group has not yet considered 
the impact of the new rules on its revenue recognition policies. It will undertake a detailed assessment 
in the near future. 
 
(iv) Leases AASB16 
AASB 16 will replace AASB 117 Leases, Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – Incentives and Interpretation 127 Evaluating 
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The Standard will provide a 
comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial 
statements of both lessees and lessors. The new Standard introduces three main changes: Enhanced 
guidance on identifying whether a contract contains a lease; A completely new leases accounting 
model for lessees that require lessees to recognise all leases on balance sheet, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low value assets; and Enhanced disclosures. Lessor accounting will not 
significantly change.. This standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019. The Group has not yet assessed the impact for the Group of this new standard. 
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For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
 
3   FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including currency risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure different types 
of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, 
foreign exchange and other price risks and aging analysis for credit risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors. 
 
(a)  Market risk 
(i) Foreign exchange risk 
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures. The Group has not entered into any financial derivative instrument contracts 
and does not adopt hedge accounting. 
 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and 
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is 
measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting. 
 
The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed in 
Australian dollars, was as follows: 
 

USD EUR USD EUR
$ $ $ $

Trade Payables (660,024)     (25,348)       (1,352,767)   (28,944)       
Trade Receivables (278,792)     -                 87,816        4,976          
Cash on Deposit 3,785,426    -                 1,065,172    35,838        

2016 2015

 
Group Sensitivity 
Based on the financial instruments held at 30 June 2016, had the Australian dollar weakened / 
strengthened by 10% against the foreign currencies with all other variables held constant, the Group's 
post tax loss for the year would have been $256,478 higher / $313,473 lower (2015: $25,349 higher / 
$20,740 lower), as a result of foreign exchange gains / losses on translation of foreign currency 
denominated financial instruments as detailed in the above table. 
 
(b)  Credit risk 
Credit risk is managed on a company basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
deposits with banks and financial institutions as well as outstanding receivables and committed 
transactions. Standard sales terms on contracts for supply of goods are; 50% due on order and 50% 
due on delivery of product. 
 
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by 
reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default 
rates and are outlined below. 
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3.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

New customers - less than 6 months - 99,227          
Existing customers - no defaults 114,314         29,874          

114,314         129,101         

Cash at bank and short‑ term bank deposits
AA 12,355,167    13,059,451    

12,355,167    13,059,451    

Receivable

Counterparties without external credit rating

 
 
(c)   Liquidity risk  
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of 
funding through an adequate amount of committed finance facilities to meet obligations when due. 
At the reporting date the Group held deposits at call of $12,355,167 (2015: $13,059,451) that are 
expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk. 
 
Redflow does not have any undrawn facilities as at 30 June 2016 (2015 :nil). 
 
Maturities of financial liabilities 
The tables below analyse the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
their contractual maturities. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not 
significant. 

Contractual 
maturities of financial 
liabilities ≤6 months

6-12 
months

1-2 
years

2-5 
years

>5 
years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount 
(assets)/ 

liabilities
$ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 30 June 2016
Non-derivatives
Trade payables 1,332,488    - - - - 1,332,488    1,332,488   
Borrowings 5,645          - - - - 5,645          5,645         

1,338,133    -           -           -           -           1,338,133    1,338,133   
At 30 June 2015
Non-derivatives
Trade payables 2,313,546    - - - - 2,313,546    2,313,546   
Borrowings 15,796        - - - - 15,796         15,796       

2,329,342    -           -           -           -           2,329,342    2,329,342   

 
(d)   Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk  
As the Company has no significant interest bearing liabilities, the Company's income and operating 
cash flows are not materially exposed to changes in market interest rates. 
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying Redflow Limited’s accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements are disclosed in the note appropriately. 
 
Estimated impairment of intangibles and other non current assets 
The group tests annually whether intangibles have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in note (v). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been 
determined based on value-in use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions. 
Other non current assets are reviewed annually for impairment using the same methodology as for 
intangibles. Impairment costs are recognised in profit or loss and against the impaired asset. 
 
Warranty provisions 
In determining the level of provision required for product warranties the Group has made judgements 
in respect of  the expected performance of the product, number of customers who may use the 
warranty and how often, and the costs of fulfilling the performance of the  warranty.  
 
As the products are newly developed the Group has estimated the provision) based on 5% of sales 
revenue, in the absence of historical data upon which to base a more reliable estimate. Due to the 
release of an improved electrode in August 2015, an additional provision was taken up as at 30 June 
2016 for an extended warranty on the current generation of electrodes manufactured and included in 
stock on hand. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in note 19. 
 
Going concern 
In preparation of the financial statements on a going concern basis, the Group has made a number of 
estimates and assumption around the timing and amount of the forecast cash flows of the business. 
More information on the going concern status is disclosed in note 2. 
 
5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
Management provide oversight of the business by reviewing and reporting financial results on a 
consolidated basis to the board of Directors. 
 
The Group manufactures predominantly one product with varying levels of customisation and has 
commenced sales to customers around the world. However due to the preliminary stage of 
commercial operations, the Group does not report on an individual product or geographical basis.  
 
Given the conditions stated above management has determined that there are no separately 
reportable operating segments. The Group operates as one reportable segment and the segment 
results are the same as those reported in the financial statements. The Group is not reliant on one 
single customer. 
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6.  REVENUE 
30 June 2016 30 June 2015

$ $
From continuing operations

(a) Sales revenue
Sale of goods 1,102,371        130,170           

1,102,371        130,170           

(b) Other revenue
Interest 98,969             135,266           

98,969             135,266           
1,201,340        265,436           

 
7.  OTHER INCOME 

 

Gain on disposal of property, plant & equipment 26,107 2,194
R&D Grant - 155,179
R&D Tax Incentive 1,980,939 1,885,392
Total other income 2,007,046 2,042,765

 
The Group qualifies for a refundable R&D tax incentive of 45% of its eligible R&D 
expenditure due to its aggregate turnover being less than $20million. As the Group is in a 
tax loss position, the tax offset is paid in cash. No accrual has been made for the 2016 year 
as the amount cannot be estimated accurately. 

 
8.  EXPENSES 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Employee benefits expense
Defined contribution superannuation expense 411,510           430,975          
Other employee benefit expense 6,867,432        6,936,292       
Total employee benefits expense 7,278,942        7,367,267       

Depreciation 
Depreciation 498,251           393,538          
Amortisation 112,438           134,597          

Total depreciation and amortisation 610,689           528,135          

Finance costs 
Interest and finance charges paid/payable 35,086             21,807            

Net foreign exchange (gain) loss (193,309)         111,029          

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
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9.  INCOME TAX (BENEFIT)/EXPENSE 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

(a) Income tax (benefit)/expense not brought to account
Current tax benefit (4,667,145)      (4,101,553)      
Deferred tax asset 356,590           (51,861)           
Foreign tax paid 5,704               8,869               
Temporary differences and tax losses not brought to account 4,310,555        4,153,414        
 5,704               8,869               

 
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit not brought to 

account to prima facie tax benefit

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense (14,115,835)    (12,300,557)    

Tax benefit at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2015: 30%) (4,234,751)      (3,690,167)      
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating 
taxable income:

Entertainment expense 1,729               1,541              
Share-based payment 515,389           313,971          
Foreign tax paid 5,704               8,869              
Nominal R&D deductions -                      -                      
   R&D Tax incentive received (592,922)         (565,618)         

(4,304,851)      (3,931,404)      

Temporary differences and tax losses not brought to account 4,310,555        3,940,273       
Income tax expense 5,704               8,869              

 
 
(c) Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 

recognised 57,009,995      45,945,957      
Potential tax benefit @ 30% 17,102,999      13,783,787      

 
This benefit from tax losses will only be realised if: 
- the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable 
the benefit from the deductions for the losses to be realised; and 
- the Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; 
and 
- there are no changes in tax legislation that adversely affect the entity in realising the benefit. 
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For the year ended 30 June 2016 

9 INCOME TAX (BENEFIT)/EXPENSE (continued) 
 
(d) Deferred tax liabilities

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Capitalised lease surrender 109                  145                 
Foreign exchange 74,438             -                      
Total deferred tax liabilities (at 30%) 74,547             145                 

Set off against deferred tax assets (relating to employee provisions) 74,547             145                 
Net deferred tax liabilites (at 30%) -                      -                      

 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

(e) Unrecognised temporary differences
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Payables and accruals 205,192           291,358          
Employee benefits 77,440             141,300          
Black hole expenses (P&L) 22,507             26,526            
Black hole expenses (Equity) 387,091           357,508          
Foreign Exchange -                      15,943            
Tax losses 17,102,999      13,783,787     
Total unrecognised deferred tax assets (at 30%) 17,795,229      14,616,422     

 
 
(f)  Tax consolidation legislation 

Redflow Limited and its wholly‑owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation with effect from 1 July 2008. The accounting policy in relation to this 
legislation is set out in note 2(u). 
 
On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the tax consolidated group entered 
into a tax sharing agreement which, in the opinion of the directors, limits the joint and several 
liability of the wholly‑owned entities in the case of a default by the head entity, Redflow Limited. 
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For the year ended 30 June 2016 

10.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Cash at bank and in hand 12,355,167     13,059,451     
12,355,167     13,059,451     

Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year

Balances as above 12,355,167     13,059,451     
12,355,167     13,059,451     

Risk exposure

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows as follows:

 
11.CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Trade receivables 114,314           129,101           
Provision for doubtful debts -                      -                      

114,314           129,101           

 
(a) Fair value and credit risk 

Due to the short‑term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to 
approximate their fair value. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of 
each class of receivables mentioned above. Refer to note 3 for more information on the risk 
management policy of the Group. 

 
(b) Impairment of trade receivables 

As at 30 June 2016 no trade receivables were impaired. 
 

(c) Past due but not impaired 
As at 30 June 2016 $104,676 (2015 $14,318) trade receivables were past due but not impaired.  
 
The aging of these receivables is as follows: 

  

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

30 to 60 days 512               14,318           
Greater than 60 days 104,164         -

104,676         14,318           F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

 
 

Redflow Limited   49 | P a g e  
 

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

12.INVENTORIES 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

At cost
Raw Materials 3,037,751        1,947,325        
Finished goods 918,500           1,815,971        
Work in progress 1,602               66,114             
Provision for diminution in value (1,593,744)       (480,795)          

2,364,109        3,348,615        

Inventories recognised as an expense for the year ended 30 June 2016 totalled $4,602,438 
(2015: $3,460,374). This expense has been included in the raw materials and consumables used 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
13.OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Cash Deposits 25,825            25,825            
Rental bond deposits -                      904                 
Prepayments 117,824          109,034          
Advance to suppliers 24,619            204,415          

168,268          340,178          

 
14.PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Plant and equipment
At cost 3,818,614       3,132,928       
Accumulated depreciation (2,440,315)      (2,092,793)      
Net carrying amount 1,378,299       1,040,135       

Leasehold improvements
At cost 611,685          611,685          
Accumulated depreciation (480,758)         (427,292)         
Net carrying amount 130,927          184,393          

Total property, plant and equipment
At cost 4,430,299       3,744,613       
Accumulated depreciation (2,921,073)      (2,520,085)      
Net carrying amount 1,509,226       1,224,528       
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For the year ended 30 June 2016 

14.  PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Plant and equipment
Net carrying amount - opening 1,040,135       668,216          
Additions 782,949          706,698          
Depreciation charge (444,785)         (334,779)         
Balance at the end of the year - Net carrying amount 1,378,299       1,040,135       

Leasehold improvements
Net carrying amount - opening 184,393          190,213          
Additions -                      52,939            
Depreciation charge (53,466)           (58,759)           
Balance at the end of the year - Net carrying amount 130,927          184,393          

Total Property, plant and equipment
Net carrying amount - opening 1,224,528       858,429          
Additions 782,949          759,637          
Depreciation charge (498,251)         (393,538)         
Balance at the end of the year - Net carrying amount 1,509,226       1,224,528       

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the year

 
15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 
30 June 2016 30 June 2015

$ $

Patents, trademarks and designs
Cost (gross carrying amount) 853,904          649,156          
Accumulated amortisation (383,416)         (281,968)         
Net carrying amount 470,488          367,188          

Capitalised lease surrender
Cost (gross carrying amount) 163,350          163,350          
Accumulated amortisation (162,987)         (162,867)         
Net carrying amount 363                 483                 

Software
Cost (gross carrying amount) 118,561          118,561          
Accumulated amortisation (117,721)         (106,851)         
Net carrying amount 840                 11,710            

Total intangible assets
Cost (gross carrying amount) 1,135,815       931,067          
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (664,124)         (551,686)         
Net carrying amount 471,691          379,381          
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Patents, trademarks and designs
Net carrying amount - opening 367,188            257,988          
Additions 204,748            208,398          
Amortisation charge (101,448)           (99,198)           
Balance at the end of the year - Net carrying amount 470,488            367,188          

Capitalised lease surrender
Net carrying amount - opening 483                   20,907            
Additions -                        -                      
Amortisation charge (120)                  (20,424)           
Balance at the end of the year - Net carrying amount 363                   483                 

Software
Net carrying amount - opening 11,710              12,909            
Additions -                        13,776            
Amortisation charge (10,870)             (14,975)           
Balance at the end of the year - Net carrying amount 840                   11,710            

Total intangible assets
Net carrying amount - opening 379,381            291,804          
Additions 204,748            222,174          
Amortisation charge (112,438)           (134,597)         
Balance at the end of the year - Net carrying amount 471,691            379,381          

 
16.CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Trade payables 926,322          658,038          
Other trade payables - contract manufacture 139,343          1,181,037       
Customer deposits 170,375          385,858          
Accrued expenses 96,448            88,613            

1,332,488       2,313,546       
 

 Information about the Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in note 3. 
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17.CURRENT BORROWINGS 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Secured
Credit cards 5,645               15,796             

Total secured current borrowings 5,645               15,796             

Total current borrowings 5,645               15,796             

(a)   Fair value 
 The carrying amount and fair value of borrowings at the end of reporting period is: 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

On-consolidated balance sheet
Non-traded financial liabilities

Other loans - at carrying amount 5,645               15,796             

On-consolidated balance sheet
Non-traded financial liabilities

Other loans - at fair value 5,645               15,796             

 
The fair value of current borrowings equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is 
not significant.   

  
(b) Risk exposures 
 Information about the Group's exposure to interest rate and foreign currency changes is provided 

in note 3. 
 
18.OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Annual leave liability 319,110           303,291           
Other payroll liabilities 296,923           336,096           

616,033           639,387           

 
The current provision for employee benefits includes accrued annual leave. The entire amount of 
the provision of $319,110 (2015: $303,291) is presented as current, since the group does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. However, based on past 
experience, the group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or 
require payment within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not 
expected to be taken or paid within the next 12 months. 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Current leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months 222,285           156,855           
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For the year ended 30 June 2016 

19. PROVISIONS 
30 June 2016 30 June 2015

$ $
Current
Warranty claims 444,604           188,098           

444,604           188,098           
Non-current
Warranty claims 175,000           743,850           
Long service leave 142,369           110,807           

317,369           854,657           

 

2016
Warranty claims $
Carrying amount at start of year 931,948           
Charged (credited) to profit or loss
    - Additional provision recognised 256,505           
Unused amounts reversed (568,849)         
Carrying amount at end of year 619,604           

(b) Nature and timing of provisions
Warranty claims
Provision is made for the estimated warranty claims in respect of products which are under warranty at 
the end of the reporting period. Management estimates the provision based on historical warranty claim 
information and any recent trends that may suggest future claims could differ from historical amounts. 

Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than provisions relating to 
employee benefits, are set out below:

 
20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Ordinary shares
Fully paid 79,935,759     67,275,064     

79,935,759     67,275,064     

(a)  Ordinary shares shares shares
 Issued and fully paid 384,218,614   324,691,079   

 (b) Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of 
the Group in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of 
hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to 
one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. 
 
In addition to the issued and fully paid ordinary shares, there were an additional 9,425,000 of 
ordinary shares issued under the employee Share and Option Plan described in Note 20(e).  
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20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued) 
(c)

Date No. of shares Issue price $
1-Jul-14 242,405,900             51,671,007         
15-Jul-14 137,743                    $0.16 22,584                
28-Oct-14 70,454                      $0.29 20,100                
28-Nov-14 850,000                    $0.09 72,250                
15-Feb-15 71,372                      $0.34 24,114                
16-Feb-15 615,645                    $0.25 150,836              
19-Mar-15 80,431,279               $0.20 16,086,256         
12-Jun-15 108,686                    $0.27 29,367                

Less: transactions costs arising on share issue (801,449)             
30-Jun-15 324,691,079             67,275,065         

1-Jul-15 324,691,079             67,275,065         
10-Sep-15 125,924                    $0.25 31,848                
10-Sep-15 426,017                    $0.30 126,457              
14-Sep-15 1,250,000                 $0.09 112,500              
6-Jan-16 132,394                    $0.24 31,848                
2-Mar-16 25,475,000               $0.23 5,859,250           
29-Mar-16 1,250,000                 $0.09 112,500              
1-Apr-16 24,186,382               $0.23 5,562,871           
6-Apr-16 6,525,000                 $0.23 1,500,750           
12-May-16 98,798                      $0.23 23,188                
30-Jun-16 58,020                      $0.35 20,100                

Less: transactions costs arising on share issue (720,618)             
30-Jun-16 384,218,614             79,935,759         

 Issue of ordinary shares (i) 
 Issue of ordinary shares (iv) 

 Issue of ordinary shares (v) 
 Issue of ordinary shares (vi) 
 Issue of ordinary shares (i) 

 Balance 

 Opening balance 
 Issue of ordinary shares (i) 
 Issue of ordinary shares (ii) 
 Issue of ordinary shares (iii) 

 Issue of ordinary shares 

 Issue of ordinary shares 
 Issue of ordinary shares 

 Issue of ordinary shares (iii) 

 Issue of ordinary shares (i) 

 Issued Capital 

Movements in ordinary share capital

Details
 Opening balance 
 Issue of ordinary shares 
 Issue of ordinary shares 

 Issue of ordinary shares 
 Issue of ordinary shares 

 
(i) On 10 September 2015, Redflow Limited issued 125,924 ordinary shares to Mr Howard Stack, Mr 

Bruce Brown and Mr Simon Hackett;  
On 6 January 2016, Redflow Limited issued 132,394 ordinary shares to Mr Howard Stack, Mr 
Bruce Brown and Mr Simon Hackett;  
On 12 May 2016, Redflow Limited issued 98,798 ordinary shares to Mr Howard Stack, Mr Bruce 
Brown and Mr Simon Hackett; 
On 30 June 2016, Redflow Limited issued 58,020 ordinary shares to Mr Howard Stack and Mr 
Bruce Brown.  
All of the above shares were issued in lieu of cash for Directors fees for services provided to the 
company as approved at the Annual General Meeting held on 30 November 2014. These shares 
rank equally with the existing shares of the Company.  

(ii) On 10 September 2015, Redflow Limited issued 426,017 ordinary shares to an employee as per 
the terms and conditions of an employment agreement. 

(iii) On 14 September 2015, Redflow Limited issued 1,250,000 ordinary shares to Mr Stuart Smith. 
On 29 March 2016, Redflow Limited issued a further 1,250,000 ordinary shares to Mr Stuart Smith. 
Both of these issues were made in accordance with the Groups Share and Option Plan as set out 
in note 20(e). 

(iv) On 2 March 2016, Redflow Limited issued 25,475,000 ordinary shares under a share placement. 
These shares rank equally with the existing shares of the Company. 

(v) On 1 April 2016, Redflow Limited issued 24,186,382 ordinary shares under 1 for 15 non-
renounceable pro-rata entitlement offer. These shares rank equally with the existing shares of the 
Company. 

(vi) On 6 April 2016, Redflow Limited issued 6,525,000 ordinary shares under a share placement to Mr 
Simon Hackett as approved at and extraordinary General Meeting on 6 April 2016. These shares 
rank equally with the existing shares of the Company. 
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20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued) 
(c)   Movement in ordinary share capital (continued) 
 
At 30 June 2016 there were an additional 9,425,000 (2015: 11,925,000) of ordinary shares on issue 
under the employee Share and Option Plan. 
 
These shares are not included in the movement in ordinary share capital as they are subject to 
dealing restrictions. Refer note 20(e). 
 
The funds raised from these share issues have been used to fund the continued expansion of the 
operations of Redflow Limited 
 
(d) Options 
Information relating to the Redflow Share and Option Plan, including details of options issued, 
exercised and lapsed during the financial year and options outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period, is set out in note 32. 
 
(e) Loan funded share plan 
The Group operates a Share and Option Plan to attract and retain key employees. This arrangement 
involves the issue of shares by Redflow Limited. 
 
Due to the structure of the plan, in particular the use of a limited recourse loan, the Accounting 
Standards require that grants be treated the same as the issue of an option and do not permit the 
recognition of a loan balance. As a consequence, the shares are not recognised in contributed equity 
until such time as the loan is repaid or the shares sold. For further details of the limited recourse loan 
please refer to the Remuneration Report. 
 
The fair value at grant date of the shares was determined using the binominal option pricing model 
that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the shares 
price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share price, the expected dividend 
yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the loan. The assessed fair value is recognised as 
share-based payments. 
 
There were no shares issued during the year (2015: 6,500,000) under the loan funded share plan. 
Shares issued are subject to dealing restrictions until the loan is repaid. Due to the loan being limited 
recourse, equity contributions are recognised on receipt of loan repayments.  $225,000 in loan 
repayments was received during the year. 
 
More information relating to the loan funded share issue including details of valuation and shares 
issued under the scheme is set out in note 32. 
 
 

(f) Capital risk management 
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
  

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
Number of shares held by key management personnel
 (net of shares that have been repaid) 4,425,000              6,925,000       
Number of shares held by other employees 5,000,000              5,000,000       
Total 9,425,000              11,925,000     
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20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued) 
(f)  Capital risk management (continued) 
The gearing ratios at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 were as follows: 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Total borrowings                 5,645               15,796 
Less cash and cash equivalents       (12,355,167)       (13,059,451)
Net debt       (12,349,522)       (13,043,655)
Total equity        14,266,636        14,469,770 
Total capital        26,616,158        27,513,425 

Gearing ratio N/A N/A  
 

Redflow Limited has a positive gearing ratio as the cash balance is greater than the borrowing 
balance in both 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 year ends 

 
21.RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

(a) Reserves
Share-based payments reserve 3,247,625         1,993,164         
Translation reserve 1,361                -                       

3,248,986         1,993,164         
Movements:
Share based payments reserve
Opening balance 1,993,164         1,193,596         
Share options issued to employees 1,254,461         799,568            
Balance 30 June 3,247,625         1,993,164         

Translation reserve
Opening balance -                       -                       
Unrealised gain (loss) on translation of foreign subsidiary 1,361                -                       
Balance 30 June 1,361                -                       

(b) Accumulated losses
Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:
Opening balance (54,798,458)     (42,489,032)     
Net loss for the year (14,119,651)     (12,309,426)     
Balance 30 June (68,918,109)     (54,798,458)     

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
Share‑based payments reserve

Translation Reserve
The translation reserve is used to show gains and losses on translation of foreign subsidiaries.

The share‑based payments reserve is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to 
employees and external parties over the vesting period.
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22.DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividends were paid or declared to members during the financial year ended June 30 2016 
(2015: nil) 
 
23.KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
 
(a) Directors 
The following persons were Directors of Redflow Limited during or at the end of the financial year: 

Howard Leigh Stack 
Bruce Robert Brown 
Richard James Aird 
Patrick Tapper 
Stuart Smith 
Simon Hackett 

 
(b)  Key management personnel compensation 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Short term employee benefits 1,154,779         1,280,962         
Post-employment employee benefits 109,704            121,641            
Other long-term employee benefits 9,872                27,706              
Share-based payment 749,047            454,810            

2,023,402         1,885,119         
 

 
(c) Transactions with key management personnel 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Subscription of new shares by key management personnel as a result of:
Entitlement offer/ Rights issue 1,747,162 4,288,954
Exercise of options granted as remuneration -                   -                   
Shares issued in lieu of directors fees 124,320 125,652

1,871,482 4,414,606        

 
(d) Share holding disclosures relating to key management personnel 
The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Redflow 
Limited and other key management personnel of the Company, including their personally related 
parties, are set out in the Remuneration report.  
 
(e) Option holding disclosures relating to key management personnel 
The numbers of options in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Redflow 
Limited and other key management personnel of the Company, including their personally related 
parties, are set out in the Remuneration report 
 
(f) Loans from key management personnel 
Except for loans provided to key management personnel in respect of the Loan Funded Share Plan, 
there were no other loans made to key management personnel during the year (2015: nil). 
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24   AUDITORS REMUNERATION 
 
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the 
company and its related practices and non related audit firms.  
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia
Audit and other assurance services
Audit and review of financial statements 98,932           129,035         
Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 98,932           129,035         

Other services
R&D claim services 16,830           16,929           
Non-recurring consulting services 22,883           -                     
R&D Grant audit services -                     19,561           

Total remuneration for other services 39,713           36,490           
Total auditors' remuneration 138,645         165,525          

 
25   CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Group has no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2016 (2015: $nil) 
 
26   COMMITMENTS 
 
(a) Capital commitments 
The Group has no capital expenditure commitments for purchase of new plant and machinery at 30 
June 2016 (2015:US$86,986/AU$116,854) and has US$1,127,361/AU$1,514,456 
(2015:$US$1,285,000 /AU$1,726,222) in committed forward purchases of raw material and finished 
goods from the contract manufacturer. 
 
(b) Leasing commitments: Group as lessee 
Non cancellable operating leases  
The Group leases various offices, warehouses and other equipment under non cancellable operating 
leases. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms 
of the leases are renegotiated. 
 
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows: 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non 
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:
Within one year 138,762            105,319            
Later than one year but not later than five years 11,278              39,816              
Later than five years -                       -                       

150,040            145,135            
 

27   RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 
(a) Ultimate parent  
The Parent entity within the Group is Redflow Limited. 
 
(b) Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 28. 
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27  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 
 
(c) Key Management Personnel 
Disclosure relating to key management personnel is set out in Note 23. 
 
(d) Transactions with related parties 
The following transactions occurred with related parties: 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Sales and purchases of goods and services:

Sale of batteries to entities controlled by key management personnel 655,000         18,340           
Professional fees paid to entities controlled by key management 
personnel 788,490         -
Payroll expenses paid to entities controlled by key management 
personnel 248,062         -
Customer deposits - 360,250         
 
 
(e) Loans from related parties 
There are no loans from related parties. 
 
28   SUBSIDIARIES 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following 
subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2  (b). 
 

Country  of
Name of entity Incorporation Class of shares 2016 2015
Redflow R&D Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100% 100%
Redflow International Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100% 100%
Redflow LLC USA Ordinary 100% 100%
Redflow Europe GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% 100%

% Equity holding*

 
 
*The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.  
 
29   EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE 
 
There were no significant events that occurred after the balance date that may affect the Group’s 
operation, results or state of affairs or may do so in the future. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

30   RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Total comprehensive loss for the year (14,121,539)    (12,309,426)    

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 610,689          528,135          
Net (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (26,107)           (2,194)             
Net gain on foreign exchange (249,814)         -
Share-based payment expense 1,491,151       1,046,569       
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables 14,787            (26,179)           
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories 984,506          (2,895,810)      
(Increase)/Decrease in other operating assets 171,910          (99,164)           
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (1,016,735)      1,201,021       
(Decrease)/Increase in other current liabilities (23,354)           9,500              
(Decrease)/Increase in provisions (280,782)         781,657          
(Decrease)/Increase in other operating liabilities -                      189,210          
Net cash (outflow) from operating activities (12,445,288)    (11,576,681)    

 
 
31   EARNINGS PER SHARE 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

(a) Basic and dilutive loss per share
From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity of the 
Group (0.04)               (0.05)               
Total basic and dilutive earnings per share attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the Group (0.04)               (0.05)               

 
 
 (b) Diluted earnings per share 

Options and loan funded shares granted to employees and external parties during the year are 
not considered to be potential ordinary shares as including such securities in the calculation 
would result in a decreased loss per share therefore being anti-dilutive. Therefore the diluted 
earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share, per AASB 133. Options issued have 
not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share. 

 
(c) Reconciliation of earning used in calculating earnings per share

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Basic earnings per share
Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Group used in 
calculating basic earnings per share (14,118,290)    (12,309,426)    
From continuing operations (14,118,290)    (12,309,426)    

 
(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in 
calculating basic earnings per share 342,406,925   266,038,451   

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

 
 

Redflow Limited   61 | P a g e  
 

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

32   SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 
(a) Share options on issue to third parties 
There were no options on issue to third parties during 2016 (2015: nil). 
 
(b)Share options issued to employees under the Redflow Limited Share Option Plan 

Grant Date
First Exercise 

Date Expiry date

Exer- 
cise 
price

Balance at 
start of the 

year

Granted 
during the 

Year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year

Balance at 
end of the 

year

Vested and 
exercisable at 

end of the 
year

Consolidated 2016 Number Number Number Number Number Number
31/08/2010 31/08/2011 31/08/2016 $0.90 1,530,000       -                   -                 -                1,530,000    1,530,000      
31/08/2010 30/11/2011 31/08/2016 $0.90 310,000          -                   -                 -                310,000       310,000         
31/08/2010 1/01/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 280,000          -                   -                 -                280,000       280,000         
31/08/2010 29/02/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 310,000          -                   -                 -                310,000       310,000         
31/08/2010 31/05/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 160,000          -                   -                 -                160,000       160,000         
31/08/2010 31/08/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 160,000          -                   -                 -                160,000       160,000         
31/08/2010 1/01/2013 31/08/2016 $0.90 40,000            -                   -                 -                40,000         40,000          
27/06/2011 27/06/2012 27/06/2017 $1.45 120,000          -                   -                 -                120,000       120,000         
6/09/2011 1/07/2012 5/09/2017 $1.45 200,000          -                   -                 -                200,000       200,000         
6/09/2011 1/07/2013 5/09/2017 $1.85 200,000          -                   -                 -                200,000       200,000         
10/12/2014 31/12/2016 31/12/2018 $0.19 2,750,000       -                   -                 -                2,750,000    -                    
18/05/2015 30/06/2015 30/06/2018 $0.19 100,000          -                   -                 -                100,000       -                    
18/05/2015 31/12/2015 31/12/2018 $0.19 250,000          -                   -                 -                250,000       -                    
18/05/2015 30/06/2016 30/06/2019 $0.19 550,000          -                   -                 -                550,000       -                    
18/05/2015 30/06/2016 30/06/2019 $0.19 200,000          -                   -                 -                200,000       -                    
18/05/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2019 $0.19 300,000          -                   -                 -                300,000       -                    
18/05/2015 30/06/2017 30/06/2020 $0.19 100,000          -                   -                 -                100,000       -                    
7/07/2015 31/12/2015 31/12/2018 $0.28 -                     250,000       -                 -                250,000       -                    
7/07/2015 30/06/2016 31/12/2018 $0.28 -                     250,000       -                 -                250,000       -                    
7/07/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2018 $0.28 -                     250,000       -                 -                250,000       -                    
7/07/2015 30/06/2017 31/12/2018 $0.28 -                     500,000       -                 -                500,000       -                    

7,560,000       1,250,000     -                 -                8,810,000    3,310,000      

$0.55 $0.28 n/a n/a $0.51 $1.01Weighted average exercise price
 

Grant 
Date

First 
Exercise 

Date Expiry date
Exercise 

price

Balance at 
start of the 

year

Granted 
during the 

Year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year

Balance at 
end of the 

year

Vested and 
exercisable 
at end of the 

year
Consolidated ‑  2015 Number Number Number Number Number Number
31/08/2010 31/08/2011 31/08/2016 $0.90 1,530,000    -               -                -               1,530,000  1,530,000   
31/08/2010 30/11/2011 31/08/2016 $0.90 310,000       -               -                -               310,000     310,000      
31/08/2010 1/01/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 280,000       -               -                -               280,000     280,000      
31/08/2010 29/02/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 310,000       -               -                -               310,000     310,000      
31/08/2010 31/05/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 160,000       -               -                -               160,000     160,000      
31/08/2010 31/08/2012 31/08/2016 $0.90 160,000       -               -                -               160,000     160,000      
31/08/2010 1/01/2013 31/08/2016 $0.90 40,000         -               -                -               40,000       40,000        
27/06/2011 27/06/2012 27/06/2017 $1.45 120,000       -               -                -               120,000     120,000      
6/09/2011 1/07/2012 5/09/2017 $1.45 200,000       -               -                -               200,000     200,000      
6/09/2011 1/07/2013 5/09/2017 $1.85 200,000       -               -                -               200,000     200,000      
2/12/2013 31/10/2014 30/11/2014 $0.09 1,100,000    -               (850,000)   (250,000)  -                 -                  
10/12/2014 31/12/2016 31/12/2018 $0.19 -                   2,750,000 -                -               2,750,000  -                  
18/05/2015 30/06/2018 30/06/2020 $0.19 -                   1,500,000 -                -               1,500,000  -                  

4,410,000    4,250,000 (850,000)   (250,000)  7,560,000  3,310,000   

$0.78 $0.12 $0.09 $0.09 $0.51 $1.01Weighted average exercise price  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

32. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 
(b) Share options issued to employees under the Redflow Limited Share Option Plan 

(continued) 
 
Fair value of options granted 
The assessed fair value of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2016 was valued using a 
Black Scholes model which defines the conditions under which employees are expected to exercise 
their options after vesting in terms of the stock price reaching a specified multiple of the exercise 
price.  
 
The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2016 included: 
 

Vesting Date Grant Date
Spot 
Price

Execise 
Price

Expected 
Volatility

Risk Free 
Rate

Dividend 
Yield

Issued to employees
Performance 

Based 7/07/2015 $0.29 $0.28 80% 1.98% 0%
 

 
(c) Loan funded share plan 
 

Grant Date Expiry Date Consideration
Balance at start of 

year
Granted during the 

year
Repaid during the 

year
Balance at the end 

of the year
Number Number Number Number

12/04/2013 12/04/2016 $0.09 2,500,000       -                      (2,500,000)      -                      
20/01/2014 20/01/2017 $0.13 2,925,000       -                      -                      2,925,000       
12/08/2014 12/08/2017 $0.19 6,500,000       -                      -                      6,500,000       

11,925,000     -                      (2,500,000)      9,425,000       
 
Fair value of loan funded shares granted 
There were no shares granted during the year under the share plan. 
 
For further information on share based payments refer to Note 20(e) and the Remuneration report. 
 
(d) Expenses arising from share based payment transactions 
 
Total expenses arising from share based payments transactions during the period as a part of 
employee benefits expense were as follows: 
 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Options issued under employee option plan 648,844          238,192          
Shares issued in lieu of compensation 126,457          150,836          
Shares issued under loan funded share plan 605,619          561,376          

1,380,920       950,404          
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

33   PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
(a) Summary of financial information 

The individual financial statements for the parent entity, Redflow Limited show the following 
aggregate amounts: 

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
$ $

Balance sheet
Current assets 8,184,916       11,884,619     
Non current assets 36,463,707     16,770,477     
Total assets 44,648,623     28,655,096     

Current liabilities -                      -                      
Total liabilities -                      -                      
Net assets 44,648,623     28,655,096     

Shareholders’ equity 
Contributed equity 79,418,733     66,758,038     
Reserves 3,247,625       1,993,164       
Accumulated losses (38,017,735)    (40,096,106)    

44,648,623     28,655,096     

Profit/(Loss) for the period (2,078,371)      2,019,754       

Total comprehensive income (2,078,371)      2,019,754       

PARENT

 
 
(b) Details of any guarantees entered into by the parent entity 
The parent entity has not entered into any guarantees as at 30 June 2016 (2015: nil) 
 
(c) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 
The parent entity does not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2016 (2015: nil) 
 
(d) Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment. 
The parent entity is not entered into any contractual commitments for acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment as at 30 June 2016 (2015: nil) 
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 Directors Declaration 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
 
In the Directors' opinion: 
 
(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 27 to 63 are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including: 
(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 

mandatory professional reporting requirements, and 
(ii) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of its 

performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 
 

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable, and 
 
Note 2(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 

 
 
Simon Hackett 
Executive Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 
Brisbane 
Date: 26th August 2016

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

 
 

Redflow Limited   65 | P a g e  
 

 Independent auditors report to the members 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 
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 ASX additional information 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in 
this report is as follows. The information is current as at 21 September 2016. 
 
(a) Distribution of equity securities 
 
(i) Ordinary share capital  
 394,608,342 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 5,758 individual shareholders.  
 All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the rights to dividends.  
 
(ii) Options  
  8,810,000 options are held by 12 individual option holders  
 
The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class are: 
 
 Fully paid ordinary shares Options 
1 - 1,000 259 0 
1,001 - 5,000 1,680 0 
5,001 - 10,000 1,005 0 
10,001 – 100,000 2,457 1 
100,001 and over 357 11 
   
 Parcel size Shareholders 
Holding less than a marketable parcel of shares at $0.40 per share 1,250 342 
 
 (b)  Substantial shareholders 
The names of the Company’s substantial shareholders and the number of ordinary shares in which 
each has a relevant interest as disclosed in substantial shareholder notices given to the Company are 
as follows 
 
 Full Paid 
Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage 

Mr David Oakley 20,288,000 6.03% 
Hackett CP Nominees PTY LTD 44,997,959 13.37% 
Mr Graeme Wood 19,017,650 5.65% 
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 ASX additional information 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 
 
(c) Twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities 
 

                   Full Paid 

 Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage 

1 Hackett CP Nominees PTY LTD 50,409,949 12.77% 
2 Mr Graeme Thomas Wood 22,605,494 5.73% 

3 MFS Fund Pty Ltd 18,500,000 4.69% 

4 Mr David Frederick Oakley 13,245,434 3.36% 
5 Mr John Richard Serisier + Mrs Shelley Ann Serisier 12,079,486 3.06% 

6 Polvran Investments Pty Ltd 11,770,076 2.98% 

7 DISA Company Pty Ltd 10,000,000 2.53% 
8 Mr Alexander Rudolf Winter 6,649,378 1.69% 

9 Happiness Investments 5,720,,901 1.45% 

10 Berne No 132 Nominees Pty Ltd<602580 A/C> 5,700,000 1.44% 
11 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 5,273,922 1.34% 

12 Pacific Development Corporation 4,000,000 1.01% 

13 Mr Iain Charles Smith 3,700,000 0.94% 
14 Mr Christopher Lister Lawrance and Mrs Colleen Allison 

Lawrance 
3,114,127 0.79% 

15 Resource & Land Management Services Pty Ltd 3,034,915 0.77% 

16 Frontier KY Investments Pty Ltd 2,674,904 0.68% 
17 Mr David Frederick Oakley 2,330,000 0.59% 

18 Morbride Pty Ltd 2,200,000 0.56% 

19 MCIV Super Pty Ltd 2,159,971 0.55% 
20 William M Robson 1,961,172 0.50% 

  187,129,729 47.42% 
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